
 

 

 
Children's 
Services Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Date: Monday 30 March 2009 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 
Hafod Road, Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the 
meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Paul James, Democratic Services Officer Tel: 
01432 260460 Fax:01432 261868 

E-mail: pjames@herefordshire.gov.uk 

  
 
 
 
Herefordshire Council 

 
 
 
 

 



 
 



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  30TH MARCH, 2009 
 
 

AGENDA 
for the Meeting of the Children's Services 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

To:                   Councillor 
Councillor 

 

 
SJ Robertson (Chairman) 
 WU Attfield (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillors ME Cooper, BA Durkin, P Jones CBE, G Lucas, 
JE Pemberton, RV Stockton, AM Toon, WJ Walling 
and JD Woodward 

  
Church Members Mr T Leach (Church of England) 

  
Parent Governor Members Mr N Parker (Secondary School Parent Governor) 

and Mr A Wood (Special School Governors) 
  

Teacher Representatives Mr M Harrison (Teacher Representative) 
  
Headteacher Representatives Mrs OR Evans (Special Schools), Mr C Mutton 

(Primary School Headteachers) and Mrs D Strutt 
(Secondary School Headteachers) 

  
Community Representatives Ms K Berry (Connexions) and Ms H Tank (The 

Alliance) 

  

  

 Pages 

  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence. 

 
 

   
2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES     
   
 To receive details of Members nominated to attend the meeting in place of 

a Member of the Committee. 
 

 

   
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the Agenda. 
 
GUIDANCE ON DECLARING PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL 
INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 
 
The Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct requires Councillors to declare 
against an Agenda item(s) the nature of an interest and whether the 
interest is personal or prejudicial.  Councillors have to decide first whether 
or not they have a personal interest in the matter under discussion.  They 
will then have to decide whether that personal interest is also prejudicial. 
  
A personal interest is an interest that affects the Councillor more than most 

 



 

other people in the area.  People in the area include those who live, work 
or have property in the area of the Council.  Councillors will also have a 
personal interest if their partner, relative or a close friend, or an 
organisation that they or the member works for, is affected more than other 
people in the area.  If they do have a personal interest, they must declare it 
but can stay and take part and vote in the meeting.   
 
Whether an interest is prejudicial is a matter of judgement for each 
Councillor.  What Councillors have to do is ask themselves whether a 
member of the public – if he or she knew all the facts – would think that the 
Councillor’s interest was so important that their decision would be affected 
by it.  If a Councillor has a prejudicial interest then they must declare what 
that interest is and leave the meeting room. 

   
4. MINUTES   1 - 6  
   
 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 8 December 2008.  
   
5. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR 

FUTURE SCRUTINY   
  

   
 To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the 

Committee could scrutinise in the future. 
 

   
6. OFSTED APA OUTCOMES FOR CHILDREN'S SERVICES 2008   7 - 16  
   
 To update the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee and formally report 

the outcome of the recent 2008 APA inspection of Children’s Services. 
 

   
7. SAFEGUARDING ACTION PLAN   17 - 30  
   
 To note the actions taken by the Director of Children’s Services and the 

Herefordshire Children’s Safeguarding Board (HSCB) in regard to 
improving the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements in the County. 

 

   
8. COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT AND PERFORMANCE 

DIGEST - OCTOBER- DECEMBER 2008/2009   
31 - 34  

   
 To summarise the proposals for assessing children’s services under the 

Comprehensive Area Assessment and to present the Performance Digest 
for Children’s Services for the third quarter, October to December 2008.  
 

 

   
9. CAPITAL BUDGET REPORT 2008/9   35 - 42  
   
 To report the capital budget position for 2008/09 for the Children & Young 

People’s Directorate and to provide detailed information on variances 
between planned expenditure and the forecast outturn at 31st March 2009.   
 

 

   
10. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2008/9     
   
 To report on the monitoring of the revenue budget for 2008/09 for the 

Children and Young People’s Directorate. 
REPORT TO FOLLOW 

 

   
Revenue Monitoring Report 43 - 48  
  
The attached report and appendix were issued to the Committee with the agenda. 
 
 
 

 

  



 

11. ESTABLISHING LINK ROLES FOR SCRUTINY MEMBERS TO 
SUPPORT EVERY CHILD MATTERS   

49 - 52  

   
 To consider the establishment of Scrutiny Member roles to enable a fuller 

understanding of the issues affecting Children and Young People in 
Herefordshire, thus enabling them to support the Scrutiny Committee in 
fulfilling its role effectively in the support of Every Child Matters (ECM). 
 

 

   
12. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME   53 - 56  
   
 To consider the Committee work programme.  
   





PUBLIC INFORMATION 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

The Council has established Scrutiny Committees for Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing, Childrens’ Services, Community Services, 
Environment, and Health.  A Strategic Monitoring Committee scrutinises 
corporate matters and co-ordinates the work of these Committees. 

The purpose of the Committees is to ensure the accountability and 
transparency of the Council's decision making process. 

The principal roles of Scrutiny Committees are to 
 

•  Help in developing Council policy 
 

• Probe, investigate, test the options and ask the difficult questions 
before and after decisions are taken 

 

• Look in more detail at areas of concern which may have been raised 
by the Cabinet itself, by other Councillors or by members of the public 

 

• "call in" decisions  - this is a statutory power which gives Scrutiny 
Committees the right to place a decision on hold pending further 
scrutiny. 

 

• Review performance of the Council 
 

• Conduct Best Value reviews  
 

• Undertake external scrutiny work engaging partners and the public  
 
Formal meetings of the Committees are held in public and information 
on your rights to attend meetings and access to information are set out 
overleaf 
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny 
Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny 
Committees to investigate.  

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at 
Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny 

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present if 
they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to 
investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time 
when the matter is raised.  Councillors will research the issue and consider 
whether it should form part of the Committee’s work programme when 
compared with other competing priorities. 

Please note that the Committees can only scrutinise items which fall within 
their specific remit (see below).  If a matter is raised which falls within the 
remit of another Scrutiny Committee then it will be noted and passed on to 
the relevant Chairman for their consideration.   

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at 
Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings 

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee 
meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an item 
listed on the agenda.  If you have a question you would like to ask then 
please submit it no later than two working days before the meeting to 
the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an answer can be 
provided at the meeting.  Contact details for the Committee Officer can be 
found on the front page of this agenda.   

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the 
discussion at the meeting.  This will be at the Chairman’s discretion.   

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committees are not able to discuss 
questions relating to personal or confidential issues.) 



 
Remits of Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
 
Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 
 
Statutory functions for adult social services including: 
Learning Disabilities 
Strategic Housing 
Supporting People 
Public Health 
 
Children’s Services 
 
Provision of services relating to the well-being of children including 
education, health and social care. 
 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
Libraries 
Cultural Services including heritage and tourism 
Leisure Services 
Parks and Countryside 
Community Safety 
Economic Development 
Youth Services 
 
Health 
 
Planning, provision and operation of health services affecting the area 
Health Improvement 
Services provided by the NHS 
 
Environment 
 
Environmental Issues 
Highways and Transportation 
 
Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Corporate Strategy and Finance 
Resources  
Corporate and Customer Services 
Human Resources 

 

 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
 

• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 
business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to 
six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up 
to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a 
report is given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on 
which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available 
to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and 
Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, 
subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per 
agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of 
the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy 
documents. 

 

 

 



 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large 
print.  Please contact the officer named on the front cover of this 
agenda in advance of the meeting who will be pleased to deal 
with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for 
visitors in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 
 
Public Transport Links 
 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs 

approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the Tesco store in 
Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / 
Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction 
with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more 
information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, 
you may do so either by telephoning the officer named on the front cover of this agenda 
or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday 
and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford. 

 

 

 

 

 
Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer waste. De-

inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). Awarded the 

Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at 
the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be undertaken 
to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the 
building following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning 
to collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Children's Services Scrutiny 
Committee held at The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 
Hafod Road, Hereford on Monday 8 December 2008 at 
10.00 am 
  

Present: Councillor 
Councillor 

SJ Robertson (Chairman) 
 WU Attfield (Vice Chairman) 

   
 Councillors PGH Cutter, BA Durkin, G Lucas, RV Stockton, 

AM Toon, WJ Walling and JD Woodward 
  

Parent Governor 
Members 

Mr N Parker (Secondary School Parent Governor) 

  
Headteacher 

Representatives 
Mrs OR Evans (Special School Headteachers) and 
Mrs D Strutt (Secondary School Headteachers) 

  
Community 

Representatives 
Ms H Tank (The Alliance) 

  
In attendance: Councillors: WLS Bowen, PJ Edwards, JA Hyde (Cabinet Member 

Children's Services), TM James and AT Oliver 
  
  
32. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
  
 Apologies were received from: Mrs K Berry; Councillor ME Cooper; Mr JD Griffin; 

Councillor Brig. P Jones CBE; Mr T Leach; Mr C Mutton; Mr A Wood. 
 
Apologies were also received from Councillor PD Price (Cabinet Member – ICT, 
Education and Achievement). 

  
33. NAMED SUBSTITUTES   
  
 Councillor PGH Cutter for Councillor Brig P Jones CBE.  Mrs D Coates substituted 

for Mr C Mutton. (Primary School Headteacher representative) 
  
34. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
  
 During consideration of agenda Item 8 - Capital Budget Report 2008/09 – 

Councillor AM Toon declared a personal interest as a Member of the Hereford City 
Council in relation to the funding of Hereford Skate Park. 
  

  
35. MINUTES   
  
 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2008 be 

approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
  
36. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE 

SCRUTINY   
  
 No suggestions were received from Members of the public. 

AGENDA ITEM 4

1



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MONDAY 8 DECEMBER 2008 

 

 

  
37. SEN FUNDING IN MAINSTREAM SCHOOLS   
  
 The Committee considered information concerning the provision of additional funding 

to mainstream schools for the purpose of making appropriate SEN arrangements 
under the 2001 SEN Code of Practice for children and young people identified as 
having special educational needs as defined in the code. 
 
The Manager of SEN & Disability presented her report which set out: the financial 
implications of funding for additional educational support where a child had been 
identified with Special Educational Needs (SEN); the benefits and issues concerning 
the current funding system without statements of SEN; and current action being 
taken.  Appended to the report were the Special Educational Need Code of Practice 
2001 (Appendix 1) and Data concerning Statutory Assessment & Statements of 
SEN.  A ‘Summary of Information’ was issued at the meeting. 
 
The Manager of SEN & Disability reported that funding for additional support under 
the SEN 2001 Code of Practice was provided from the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG). Staff providing administrative and casework services for statutory 
assessment and the maintenance of statements of SEN were funded through the 
Local Authority budgets.  Schools based budgets included a notional 6% for 
additional needs.  Further funding for SEN was currently retained centrally from the 
DSG and provided to mainstream schools on a needs basis through the Banded 
Funding levels with and without statements of SEN. There are currently 4 Band 
Levels of funding for individual needs ranging from £1,830 per annum (Level 1) to 
£10,930 per annum (Level 4).  The band level was determined on the basis of 
evidence about a child’s needs gathered as a result of assessment and purposeful 
interventions as described in the 2001 SEN Code of Practice and criteria.  It was 
proposed to delegate funding associated with Band Levels 1 and 2 through a formula 
into schools base budgets. A recent 8-week consultation, undertaken by the 
Herefordshire Schools Forum, had looked at possible alternatives to the current 
method of delegating the Banded funding.  A report on the outcome was due to be 
considered by the Herefordshire Schools Forum on 15th December 2008. 
 
During the course of scrutinising the report the following principal points were noted: 
 
§ Responding to questions about parental confidence in any school’s SEN 

arrangements and that Voluntary Aided schools required statements rather 
than banded assessments, the Committee noted that the system relied on 
schools maintaining a proper system of assessment and this was being 
monitored by the service.  There was a statutory process for statements, and 
the Code of Practice set out the approach to banded funding.   

§ Banded funding for levels 1 and 2 was delegated under a formula to schools.  
Statemented funding followed the child if they moved school. 

§ The needs of the young person could be met in different ways to give the 
right outcome.  Banded funding levels 1 and 2 addressed low level needs.  

§ By their nature formal statements took longer to prepare and consider and 
were more costly to administer. 

§ Questioned on the breakdown of data for bands 1 & 2 the Committee noted 
that, while not shown in the agenda, this data was collected and monitored. 

§ Responding to concerns regarding the number of statements e.g. for dyslexia 
the Committee were informed that the number had probably been low and 
where statements had been completed these had been for primary school 
pupils and may have been for ‘difficult need’ rather than specifically for 
dyslexia. 

§ It was noted that Hampton Dene Primary School had not been listed in table 
U at page 28/39 as it had a Language and Communication Centre.   

2



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MONDAY 8 DECEMBER 2008 

 

 

§ It was further noted that while the number of allocations, indicated in table T, 
was high for some High schools, this was dependant on whether SENCOs 
had made applications.  It was important for there to be good liaison between 
primary and High schools at the time of transfer. 

§ Questioned whether the funding allocation under the formula covered the 
actual cost to the school it was acknowledged that this was dependant on a 
number of factors e.g. number of banded pupils in the school; their range of 
difficulties and the schools ability to provide for those pupils within the 
budget.  Central Services were able to offer advice on budgeting in such 
circumstances. 

§ Concerning the number of pupils at band level 4,  being pupils with a wide 
rang of difficulties and in need of the most assistance and therefore the most 
expensive, the Committee noted that a very small number of pupils went out 
of county for extra assistance and, in the main, these pupils were in special 
schools prior to out of county placement. 

§ The Committee were informed that the current allocation of levels 1 & 2 
banded funding was made based on statistics for the take up of Free School 
Meals (FSM) in the school.  The Committee questioned whether this was a 
fair and equitable method of allocating SEN funding bearing in mind the 
range of other indices and that every child’s needs were important.  Concern 
was expressed that a school may be significantly underfunded for SEN when 
based on its number of FSM.   In response the Committee were informed that 
allocation by FSM was used for a high proportion of other school budget 
allocations and the FSM statistics were regularly and robustly checked.  

§ Voicing similar concerns over school funding for Statemented pupils the 
Committee were reminded that Statemented funding followed the child.   

§ It was claimed that some schools were finding it difficult to obtain adequate 
responses from the Education Psychology Service and the Behaviour 
Support Service. 

§ A Headteacher representative commented that while unfortunately there 
would be winners and losers, many teachers preferred the current allocation 
system for band levels 1 & 2 on the basis that the level of bureaucracy 
involved in applying for individual child funding took teachers away from 
teaching. 

 
The Chairman suggested that in view of the concern now expressed about the 
system for allocating Level 1 and 2 Banded Funding a small Working Group be 
formed to look at background material, including the report to the Herefordshire 
Schools Forum, to ensure that the range of delegated funding options to schools are 
adequately considered and that no child requiring additional assistance was missed 
by the system. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted and a SEN/Banded Funding Working 
Group be formed comprising of Councillors: WU Attfield; G Lucas; AM Toon 
SJ Robertson and JD Woodward, to examine the range of delegated funding 
options and how the SEN / Banded funding system was meeting the needs of 
children and schools. 

  
38. PROGRESS REPORT: DOMESTIC ABUSE   
  
 The Committee received a report on progress made since 2006 in addressing the 

needs of children affected by domestic abuse. 
 
The agenda report set out that following the 2005 Joint Area Review (JAR) of 
Children’s Services an action plan was put in place to address areas of concern and 
included action points for: the Review of the threshold for referral of children to 
Children’s Social Care; the Development of an effective workforce strategy to 

3



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MONDAY 8 DECEMBER 2008 

 

 

improve recruitment and retention of social workers and to ensure all professionals 
working with children understand the threshold criteria and apply them consistently in 
practice.  The agenda report set out the work undertaken to address the action 
points.  The report also updated on the current position concerning the referral of 
children; the work of the Independent Domestic Advisor (IDVA) Post; the 
establishment of the Dedicated Domestic Abuse Court and the work of the Multi 
Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC).  
 
During the course of scrutinising the report the following principal points were noted: 
 
§ Following the JAR the recruitment and retention of social workers had 

improved through a mix of local and national recruitment campaigns; 
overseas recruitment (USA and Australia); sponsoring council staff in the 
directorate to undertake Social Work degree courses, and Council sponsored 
student social workers.  Other than students seeking their degree, the 
Council had no unqualified social workers.  The successful applicants from 
the USA and Australia were currently awaiting British registration. 

§ The Head of Safeguarding and Vulnerable reported that following the recent 
tragic event at Haringey the Government were initiating a further review of 
the child protection system.  The Council’s Service had reviewed all of its 
Child Protection Plans and he was satisfied that all were robust.  He also 
reported that future Ofsted inspections of the Service were likely to be more 
‘hands on’ rather than just ‘data based’ as at present. 

§ The Committee noted the range of services provided either by the Council or 
its partners, as described in the report, and particularly noted the work of the 
Women’s Refuge, the multi-agency work by WMWA and the health visitors.   

§ While a high proportion of domestic abuse incidents happened to women, the 
Committee noted that the Domestic Violence Forum were also looking at the 
range of support to men in similar situations. 

§ The Service reviewed its progress against the JAR Action Plan every 6 
months and took any necessary action to meet the Plan. 

§ Approving of the work in setting up the Dedicated Domestic Abuse Court it 
was questioned what support was made available to the abuser pre a court 
appearance.  In response it was noted that this issues would be reviewed in 
2009. 

§ Questioning the range of organisations involved in the Domestic Violence 
Forum it was noted that Registered Social Landlords and Homepoint were 
already part of the Forum.  An alternative view was expressed that having too 
many agencies involved may delay vital action. 

§ The role of the Social Worker was to co-ordinate the different agencies under 
the Child Protection Plan, therefore it was important to have a clear plan that 
dealt with the child’s specific issues and be able to monitor progress against 
the plan. 

§ While all the plans and strategies may be in place, at the end of the day, it 
came down to a judgement about the best course of action for the prevailing 
situation. 

 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted and regular update reports on the 
Council’s progress in tackling domestic abuse be made to Committee. 

  
39. CAPITAL BUDGET REPORT 2008/09   
  
 The Committee were updated on the capital budget for 2008/09 for the Children’ and 

Young People’s Directorate. 
 
The Schools Access and Planning Manager presented the agenda report. Details of 
expenditure on capital projects were set out in the appendix.  He highlighted that in 

4



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MONDAY 8 DECEMBER 2008 

 

 

relation to the Academy (Wyebridge replacement), while £3.6m had been re-profiled 
to 2009/10 to more accurately reflect the expenditure timetable, no slippage had 
occurred to the overall project. 
 
He also reported that the main building contractor responsible for the replacement 
Riverside Primary School contract had just gone into administration.  Information 
was awaited from the appointed Administrator but he warned that the contract, which 
was due for completion in June 2009, may now slip.  Any penalty clauses in the 
contract would be considered by the Administrator.  Members would be kept advised 
as more information was known. 
 
Questioned on the cost of clearing the old Whitecross High School site, which it was 
understood would be undertaken by the successful developer, the Committee were 
informed that the intention had always been to provide a clear site and, with the on-
going cost of site security and the payment of non-domestic rate, the decision had 
been take to proceed with the site clearance. 
 
On seeking clarification concerning the Councils involvement in the Hereford Skate 
Park project (£50,000) Councillor AM Toon, having declared a personal interest as a 
Member of Hereford City Council, informed the Committee that this related to a 
successful Lottery grant which had to be paid to the City Council via Herefordshire 
Council.  
 
In trying to establish the level of external funding (e.g. Sec 106, specific grants and 
Lottery funding) and the particular projects they were associated with, the Committee 
requested that future reports include further brief explanation on the various funding 
streams and how it had been allocated. It was also suggested that the column 
headed ‘Spend per Cedar’ could more usefully be headed ‘spend to date’. 
 
Questioned whether there would be overcapacity at the replacement Minster 
College, Leominster, the Committee were informed that: contractors were now on 
site; the contract was subject to DCSF grant and the capacity had been determined 
by the number of potential pupils in the area.  However, acknowledging there may be 
surplus capacity issues the appropriate use of the space was being investigated. 
 
On seeking clarification concerning the policy governing temporary classroom 
provision and disposal (original budget £110,000 adjusted budget £150,500) the 
Committee requested that the issue be looked at and an item be added to the work 
programme. 
 
RESOLVED:  

a) That the report be noted and greater explanation of income e.g. Sec 
106; grants and lottery funding, be included in future reports; and 

b) The issues of temporary classroom accommodation be added to the 
work programme 

  
40. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2008/09   
  
 The Committee considered a report on the monitoring of the revenue budget for 

2008/09 for the Children & Young People’s Directorate. 
 
The Finance Manager reported that the report to Cabinet on the 2nd October 2008 
predicted a £267,000 overspend. The Directorate’s financial position had now 
improved by £261k since August 2008. This was mainly because of a £171k 
improvement in the Inclusion & Improvement service arising from planned better use 
of General Surestart Grant and a reduction in the Joint Agency Management budget. 
Additionally a projected overspend of £120k in the Directorate’s computer budget 

5



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MONDAY 8 DECEMBER 2008 

 

 

had been largely absorbed by an improving school transport position within the 
Planning, Performance and Development division. Overall a very small overspend of 
£6k was forecast. 
 
Seeking clarification on SEN /Banded funding the Committee were informed that 
£1.19m related to new awards with £2.5m already being included in school budgets 
i.e. awarded last year.  Commenting that a consistent approach was needed to how 
income and expenditure was shown the Finance Manger reported that this was in 
hand. 
 
Noting the position concerning transportation costs questions were asked regarding 
the eligibility of pupils at the Steiner Academy, Hereford, to receive school transport.  
In response the Finance Manager stated that as a state maintained school some 
pupils would be eligible for free school transport, however, he undertook to provide 
further information by way of a briefing note to Members. 
 
RESOLVED: that the report be noted and further information be provided to 
the Committee Members regarding transport costs as they relate to the Steiner 
Academy Hereford. 

  
41. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME   
  
 The Committee considered its work programme. 

 
The Chairman reported that she had arranged that both she and the Vice-Chairman 
would be receiving regular informal briefings with the Director of Children’s Services. 
 
Referring to Minute 38 – Progress Report: Domestic Abuse - regular update reports 
on how the Council was addressing domestic abuse be added to the Committee 
work programme. 
 
Referring to the question of spare capacity at new Minster Academy, Leominster, 
(Minutes 39) the Committee requested that they be informed, by way of a briefing 
note, of the capacity of the new Academy and the measures being considered by the 
Directorate to manage any potential overcapacity issues. 
 
Referring to Minute 39 – Capital Budget Report 2008/09 – the issue of temporary 
Classroom accommodation, in particular the acquisition and disposal policy, be 
added to the Committee work programme. 
 
On considering the work programme it was questioned what the outcome of the 
directorate’s review of the Education Welfare Services had been and the Committee 
requested an update/briefing note. 
 
RESOLVED: That subject to incorporating the above listed actions the 
Committee work programme be approved and reported to Strategic Monitoring 
Committee. 

  
The meeting ended at 12.21 pm CHAIRMAN 
 

6



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from S. Menghini, Director of Children’s Services  

Tel:  01432 260039 

 

APA2008report0.doc  

OFSTED APA OUTCOMES FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
2008 

Report By: Director of Children’s Services 

 

Wards Affected 

County-wide 

Purpose 

To update the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee and formally report the outcome of 
the recent 2008 APA inspection of Children’s Services. 

Background 

A copy of the APA letter from Ofsted is attached for reference as Appendix 1. 

1. It is particularly pleasing to note the continued progress made in Children’s Services 
with most outcomes having improved since the last APA and the specific 
improvements in grade awarded in ‘capacity to improve’ including the management 
of services for CYP and Achieving Economic Well Being.  

 
2. Overall the inspectors agreed with many of our own judgements and evaluation 

about our service delivery, which is positive. 
 

3. The partnership with the PCT and Council has been noted as a positive step.  
 

4.  Issues or risks should be noted: 
 

a. The greatest risk is the area of safeguarding with an increased public 
awareness following the ‘Haringey Baby P’ case and the inevitable closer 
scrutiny to come, meaning that this will remain a national and a local high 
profile issue. 
 

b. A recent external review of safeguarding has been commissioned which also 
includes a review of all cases where children are subject to a child protection 
plan. A separate report will follow with full details and actions required for 
information. The HSCB will be responsible for monitoring the implementation 
of this action plan. 
 

c. The Director of Children’s Services is leading the Local Safeguarding Board 
for Children to ensure it is appropriately focussed on developing good 
practice and quality assurance across agencies.  
 

d. Recruitment and retention of social workers will remain a high profile issue for 
the Directorate and obviously impacts upon the overall performance of the 
area.  

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 6

7



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from S. Menghini, Director of Children’s Services  

Tel:  01432 260039 

 

APA2008report0.doc  

e. Performance monitoring of safeguarding key indicators remains a focus for 
the Directorate as well as the HSCB and the Children’s Trust. 

 

Financial Implications 

There are no financial implications 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT; 

(a)  The committee note the content of the report and commend staff and partners 
on the progress made this year.  

(b)  The committee note the areas for improvement for the coming year- 
particularly safeguarding- in preparation for the forth coming anticipated CAA 
inspection in 2009. 

Background Papers 

Appendix 1 - Ofsted APA letter 2008. 

8



Page 1 of 7 

17 December 2008 

Ms Sharon Menghini 
Director of Children’s Services 
Herefordshire Council 
Children’s Services Directorate 
Brockington
35 Hafod Road 
Hereford
HR1 1SH

Dear Ms Menghini 

Annual performance assessment of services for children 
and young people in Herefordshire Council 2008 

This letter summarises the findings of the 2008 annual performance assessment 

(APA) for your council. The evaluations and judgements in the letter draw on a range 

of data and information which covers the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008. As 

you know, the APA is not based on an inspection of your services and, therefore, can 

only provide a snapshot based on the evidence considered. As such, I am grateful to 

you for assuring the quality of the data provided. 

Performance is judged on a four point scale as detailed in the handbook.  

I should emphasise that the grades awarded are based on an overall ‘best fit’ model. 

For instance, an outstanding judgement of Grade 4 reflects that overall most 

aspects, but not necessarily all, of the services in the area are working very well. We 

know that one of the features of outstanding provision is the drive for greater 

improvement and no council would suggest, and nor would Ofsted, that a judgement 

of outstanding indicates that everything is perfect. Similarly within a judgement of 

inadequate overall, Grade 1, there could be some aspects of the overall service that 

are adequate or even good. Judgements are made in a rounded way, balancing all of 

the evidence and giving due consideration to outcomes, local and national contexts, 

priorities and decision-making.  

Alexandra House 
33 Kingsway 
London  WC2B 6SE 

T 08456 40 40 40  
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
www.ofsted.gov.uk 

Direct T 0115 944 9193 
Direct F 0115 944 9307 
Midlands_apa@ofsted.gov.uk 

9



Page 2 of 7 

The following table sets out the grades awarded for performance in 2008. 

Assessment judgement area APA grade 

Overall effectiveness of children’s services 2 

Being healthy 3 

Staying safe 2 

Enjoying and achieving 3 

Making a positive contribution 2 

Achieving economic well-being 3 

Capacity to improve, including the management of 
services for children and young people 

3

 Inspectors make judgements based on the following scale
 4: outstanding/excellent; 3: good; 2: adequate; 1: inadequate

10



Page 3 of 7 

Overall effectiveness of children’s services      Grade 2  

Herefordshire Council delivers services for children and young people that meet 
minimum requirements. Its good capacity to improve is reflected in further 
improvements in educational standards and achievement, particularly for young 
people aged 14 to 19. Health outcomes for children and young people continue to be 
good, particularly for those who are looked after. Children and young people make a 
positive contribution to their community. There have been improvements in most 
outcomes since the previous APA. However, some aspects of staying safe 
deteriorated, primarily as a consequence of shortages of social workers. Service 
managers identified weaknesses in the administration of Criminal Records Bureau 
(CRB) checks and have taken swift and effective action to ensure compliance with 
requirements. The management of council services is adequate overall. 

Being healthy         Grade 3

The contribution of services to improving outcomes for children and young people in 
this aspect is good. This is in line with the council’s self-assessment. The council’s 
analysis of its strengths and areas for development for this outcome area is 
consistent with the evidence.

Major strengths 

The health care and outcomes for looked after children are good. 

Good service provision results in low levels of teenage conceptions. 

A high proportion of mothers, including teenage mothers, are breast-feeding. 

Good progress towards a comprehensive child and adolescent mental health 
service is leading to reduced waiting times for assessment and treatment. 

Important weaknesses and areas for development 

There has been a small but rising number of hospital admissions for alcohol 
misuse.

Staying safe         Grade 2

The contribution of services to improving outcomes for children and young people in 
this aspect is adequate. This is in line with the council’s self-assessment. The 
council’s analysis of its strengths and areas for development for this outcome area is 
consistent with the evidence. 

Major strengths 

Outcomes for looked after children are good. They have good placement 
stability which compares favourably with similar councils and national averages. 

Serious injuries and death of children and young people on the county’s roads 

11



Page 4 of 7 

have reduced and the council is making good progress towards reaching its 
2010 target.

Good progress has been made in identifying, assessing and assisting children, 
who through exposure to domestic abuse, may have suffered significant harm. 

Important weaknesses and areas for development 

The timeliness of referrals and assessments for children and young people who 
need them is lower than the national average. 

Recruitment of social workers remains on target to meet the planned 
complement in 2009. 

Reviews of those on the child protection register have not all been timely. 

Enjoying and achieving       Grade 3

The contribution of services to improving outcomes for children and young people in 
this aspect is good. This is in line with the council’s self-assessment. The council’s 
analysis of its strengths and areas for development for this outcome area is 
consistent with the evidence. 

Major strengths 

Standards are above average and achievement is good for children and young 
people at secondary school. Standards continue to improve faster than 
nationally. 

Educational outcomes for looked after children are good against comparator 
groups.

Permanent exclusions are sharply declining, and all such children and young 
people are provided with full-time pupil referral unit places. The proportion of 
children and young people with statements of special educational needs who are 
excluded is lower than the national average. 

Important weaknesses and areas for development 

Standards in Key Stage 1, although satisfactory, are not improving as quickly as 
other key stages, particularly in writing. 

Attendance of looked after children is weaker than in similar councils. 

Making a positive contribution      Grade 2

The contribution of services to improving outcomes for children and young people in 
this aspect is adequate. This is in line with the council’s self-assessment. The 
council’s analysis of its strengths and areas for development for this outcome area is 
consistent with the evidence.

12



Page 5 of 7 

Major strengths 

The number of first time entrants to the youth justice system is dropping, and is 
in line with similar councils. 

In the inspection of fostering services in March 2008, positive contribution of 
children and young people in receipt of this service was rated as outstanding. 

Comparatively high numbers of children take part in voluntary activities.  

The proportion of looked after children involved in their reviews is high. 

Important weaknesses and areas for development 

Too many looked after children are issued with final warnings, reprimands and 
convictions.

There are high levels of dissatisfaction amongst young people with the range of 
local activities and places for them to go. 

Progress towards a written plan for Targeted Youth Support and the Integrated 
Youth Offer has been limited. 

Achieving economic well-being     Grade 3

The contribution of services to improving outcomes for children and young people in 
this aspect is good. The council’s analysis of its strengths and areas for development 
for this outcome area is consistent with the evidence. However, insufficient weight 
was given to the impact of substantial, albeit recent, progress in the management 
and provision of courses for 14- to 19-year-olds. 

Major strengths

Standards and achievement overall for post-16 students are good, and rising.  

Participation in post-compulsory education is comparatively high, and rising. This 
is the result of the successful implementation of a wider range of courses both 
pre and post-16 courses and good progress in the development of provision for 
14- to 19-year-olds. 

Outcomes for looked after young people are good. These include good 
accommodation for those leaving council care; the high numbers who stay in 
education or training; and the good advice and support provided for all. 

There is a rising, and above average, proportion of supervised young offenders 
in full time education, training and employment.

Important weaknesses and areas for development 

There are insufficient progression routes into work-based learning for young 
people with learning difficulties and/or disabilities. 

Although the proportion of young people who progress to work based learning 
and further education from the Entry to Employment programme (E2E) is 

13



Page 6 of 7 

average, there are relatively high numbers who go into employment without 
training. 

Capacity to improve, including the management of  
children’s services         Grade 3

The council’s capacity to improve its services for children and young people is good 
and its management of these services is satisfactory. There have been major 
changes since the previous APA to the way the council organises its services for 
children and young people. This has resulted in new leadership and management 
arrangements and much closer partnership between Children’s Services and the 
Primary Care Trust. A clear focus on ensuring further improvement has resulted in 
most performance indicators being better than in 2007.

Performance management of children’s services has improved over the last two 
years and is now good. The recruitment of social workers is on target to reach the 
recommended complement by March 2009. The 14–19 developments have had a 
strong impact on ensuring better outcomes for young people aged 16 and 18 or over 
in the area.

Major strengths

Senior managers and members have identified the most important areas for 
improvement and resolved these promptly. 

The joint management team between Children’s Services and the Primary Care 
Trust share a common ambition to ensure further improvements in outcomes for 
children and young people. As a result, outcomes in health and enjoying and 
achieving are good. 

The performance management of children’s services is good. 

Important weaknesses and areas for development

Service management has yet to impact on the timeliness of referral and 
assessment services for children who may require social care. 

14



Page 7 of 7 

The children’s services grade is the performance rating for the purpose of section 
138 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. It will also provide the score for the 
children and young people service block in the comprehensive performance 
assessment to be published by the Audit Commission.  

We are grateful for the information you provided to support this process and for the 
time given by you and your colleagues during the assessment. 

Yours sincerely 

Juliet Winstanley 
Divisional Manager, Local Services Inspection 

15



16



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Sharon Menghini, Director of Children’s 
Services.  Tel number:  01432 260039 

 

 

       SAFEGUARDING ACTION PLAN 

Report By: Director of Children’s Services 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To note the actions taken by the Director of Children’s Services and the 
Herefordshire Children’s Safeguarding Board (HSCB) in regard to improving the 
effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements in the county. 

Financial Implications 

2. None 

Background 

3. Following the APA inspection in October 2008 and the subsequent Baby P case, a 
review was commissioned by the DCS to examine the directorate’s safeguarding 
arrangements and the interdependencies with the HSCB. This was carried out by an 
independent consultant to ensure robust objectivity. 

4. The consultant found that there were some specific areas that required improvement. 
These issues are within the CYP Directorate at levels of casework, management, ICT 
and performance management and in the role of the Children’s Trust and 
safeguarding board. 

5. All of the recommendations made by the consultant have been gathered into a full 
and detailed action plan, which is attached at Appendix 1. This plan has been 
approved by the HSCB and will now continue to be closely monitored with the HSCB 
and within the directorate leadership team. 

6. In addition a further audit has been carried out of all cases at a point in time where 
children have a child protection plan. There is now a quarterly framework in place to 
repeat this exercise within CYPD to ensure ongoing robust quality assurance and 
performance monitoring.  

7. A further piece of work has been commissioned to examine the whole system of 
safeguarding to ensure that appropriate interagency links are working well and that 
systems supporting children transferring to adults are effective. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Scrutiny Committee receive the action plan and note its 
content. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

§ None 

AGENDA ITEM 7

17



18



S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 – –––
 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N
    

F
IN
A
L
 V
E
R
S
IO
N
 –
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
9
 

1
 

R
e
f 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

1
 

C
h
il
d
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 

1
.1
 

T
h
e
 T
ru
s
t 
s
e
t 
o
u
t 
c
le
a
r 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 t
o
 

p
ro
m
o
te
 t
h
e
 w
id
e
r 

s
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 a
g
e
n
d
a
. 

§
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 
B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 

H
S
C
B
 w
o
rk
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 

s
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
 a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
te
 t
h
e
 

w
e
lf
a
re
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 

§
 

D
e
fi
n
e
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 

b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

§
 

E
n
s
u
re
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 b
y
 a
ll 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 

H
S
C
B
 B
o
a
rd
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
9
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 b
y
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r2
0
0
9
 

D
C
S
 

N
/A
 

1
.2
 

T
h
e
 T
ru
s
t 
e
n
s
u
re
s
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
re
 a
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
t 
ri
s
k
 i
n
 

th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 
 T
h
e
s
e
 t
o
 

b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 a
s
 a
 r
e
g
u
la
r 

it
e
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
’s
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
 u
n
ti
l 
e
m
b
e
d
d
e
d
 

a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
. 
 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
 w
it
h
in
 

th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 k
e
y
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

th
a
t 
a
re
 p
ro
v
e
n
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 a
 

d
if
fe
re
n
c
e
, 
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

o
f 
th
e
 C
T
 B
o
a
rd
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

§
 

T
e
n
d
e
r/
d
e
s
ig
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

   § 
Im

p
le
m
e
n
t 
L
o
c
a
lit
y
 T
e
a
m
s
. 
 

   § 
In
te
g
ra
te
 s
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 a
n
d
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

in
to
 a
ll 
O
u
tc
o
m
e
 G

ro
u
p
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

p
la
n
s
 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

  M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
 

     J
u
ly
 –
 S
e
p
t 

0
9
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

F
o
rw

a
rd
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 M

a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

    S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

u
p
 t
o
 J
a
n
 2
0
1
0
 

  In
it
ia
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
. 
 

 A
ll 
2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 p
la
n
s
 

s
p
e
c
if
y
 

in
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 

s
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 a
n
d
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 &
 

V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 /
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 H
e
a
d
 o
f 

P
la
n
n
in
g
, 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 &
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 H
e
a
d
 o
f 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 

 O
u
tc
o
m
e
 G

ro
u
p
 

le
a
d
s
/C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 

T
ru
s
t 
B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

C
a
p
a
c
it
y
 t
o
 

c
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 

e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

e
x
e
rc
is
e
s
 

19



S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 – –––
 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N
    

F
IN
A
L
 V
E
R
S
IO
N
 –
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
9
 

2
 

R
e
f 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

1
.3
 

T
h
e
 T
ru
s
t 
s
p
e
c
if
ie
s
 t
h
e
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
. 

§
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 r
e
v
is
e
 d
a
ta
s
e
t 
fo
r 

th
e
 H
S
C
B
 B
o
a
rd
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 a
 

m
in
im

u
m
 s
e
t 
o
f 
k
e
y
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

§
 

A
g
re
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a
s
 p
e
r 
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 c
y
c
le
 (
in
 l
in
e
 

w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
O
u
tc
o
m
e
 G

ro
u
p
s
) 

§
 

E
n
s
u
re
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
re
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 a
n
d
 

c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 a
n
d
 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 b
y
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

 S
u
s
ta
in
e
d
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

k
e
y
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

D
C
S
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

1
.4
 

T
h
e
 T
ru
s
t 
a
g
re
e
s
 t
h
e
 D
C
S
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 t
o
 a
lig
n
 t
h
e
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 t
o
 

m
e
e
t 
th
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
in
te
g
ra
te
d
 

w
o
rk
in
g
. 

§
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 f
o
rm

a
lly
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 o
n
 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 

L
o
c
a
lit
y
 T
e
a
m
s
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

F
o
rm

a
l 

a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 T
ru
s
t 

B
o
a
rd
 b
y
 J
u
ly
 

2
0
0
9
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 

T
ru
s
t 
B
o
a
rd
 

2
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 C
h
il
d
re
n
 B
o
a
rd
 

2
.1
 

T
h
e
 S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 a
n
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
to
 

w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 D
C
S
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

n
e
w
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 

in
te
g
ra
te
d
 t
e
a
m
s
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 m
u
lt
i 
a
g
e
n
c
y
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
. 

§
 

N
a
m
e
d
 p
e
rs
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
 

N
a
m
e
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
to
 

w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 H

S
C
B
 

a
n
d
 L
o
c
a
lit
y
 

T
e
a
m
s
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 /
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 

P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 S
u
b
-

g
ro
u
p
 

2
.2
 

T
h
e
 D
C
S
 c
la
ri
fi
e
s
 t
h
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
m
o
d
e
l 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 u
s
e
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm
s
 

a
ll 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
e
d
 

§
 

P
re
p
a
re
 c
le
a
r 
s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
m
o
d
e
l 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 

u
s
e
 

§
 

P
ro
v
id
e
 s
o
m
e
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 

s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 i
e
 w
it
h
in
 t
e
a
m
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

m
o
d
e
l 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
d
 t
o
 

a
ll 
a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 b
y
 

3
1
 M

a
rc
h
  
2
0
0
9
 

S
a
m
p
le
 a
u
d
it
 o
f 

c
a
s
e
s
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 

8
 w
e
e
k
 r
e
v
ie
w
 

D
C
S
 

T
e
a
m
 m

a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 

to
 b
ri
e
f 
te
a
m
s
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
n
 e
n
s
u
re
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

20



S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 – –––
 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N
    

F
IN
A
L
 V
E
R
S
IO
N
 –
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
9
 

3
 

R
e
f 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

§
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

§
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 a
t 
e
n
d
 o
f 
8
 

w
e
e
k
s
 

in
d
ic
a
te
s
 c
le
a
r 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 s
h
if
t 

2
.3
 

T
h
a
t 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 r
e
v
ie
w
s
 t
h
e
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
 [
2
0
0
8
-

2
0
1
1
] 
s
e
tt
in
g
 o
u
t 
th
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
, 
ta
rg
e
ts
 

a
n
d
 m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 o
f 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
. 

§
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
 f
o
c
u
s
in
g
 

o
n
 k
e
y
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
, 
ta
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

U
p
d
a
te
d
 d
ra
ft
 

b
y
 M

a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
9
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 J
u
n
e
 

2
0
0
9
 

H
S
C
B
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

2
.4
 

T
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 

c
o
n
fi
rm
s
 i
ts
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
a
 

re
v
is
e
d
 p
la
n
. 

§
 

S
u
b
m
it
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 p
la
n
 t
o
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 
B
o
a
rd
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
 

s
ig
n
e
d
 o
ff
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

T
ru
s
t 
B
o
a
rd
 b
y
 

A
p
ri
l 
 2
0
0
9
 

H
S
C
B
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

2
.5
 

T
h
e
 d
e
li
v
e
ry
 p
la
n
 [
2
0
0
8
] 

is
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
lo
n
g
 t
h
e
 l
in
e
s
 

o
f 
th
e
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
 a
n
d
 

th
a
t 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 c
o
n
fi
rm
s
 

th
a
t 
th
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 

th
e
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 p
la
n
 a
re
 

a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le
. 

§
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 p
la
n
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

D
e
liv
e
ry
 p
la
n
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 b
y
 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
9
 

D
e
liv
e
ry
 p
la
n
 

s
ig
n
e
d
 o
ff
 b
y
 

H
S
C
B
 B
o
a
rd
 b
y
 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

H
S
C
B
 C
h
a
ir
 /
 

H
S
C
B
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

2
.6
 

T
h
e
 b
o
a
rd
 c
la
ri
fi
e
s
 w
h
o
 i
s
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 

e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

p
la
n
. 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 f
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

p
la
n
 

§
 

C
la
ri
fy
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
 r
o
le
s
 

a
n
d
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 o
f 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 

§
 

E
n
s
u
re
s
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
la
n
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
re
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 r
e
v
ie
w
 

o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ry
 p
la
n
 

E
v
id
e
n
c
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 

p
la
n
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 

s
y
s
te
m
a
ti
c
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
n
d
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

H
S
C
B
 C
h
a
ir
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

2
.7
 

T
h
e
 r
o
le
 a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 m
a
n
a
g
e
r 
a
re
 

c
la
ri
fi
e
d
. 

T
h
e
 l
in
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

§
 

C
la
ri
fy
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
jo
b
 

d
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
a
n
d
 l
in
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
 

   

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

    

D
C
S
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

H
R
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

21



S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 – –––
 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N
    

F
IN
A
L
 V
E
R
S
IO
N
 –
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
9
 

4
 

R
e
f 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 m
a
n
a
g
e
r 
a
re
 

a
lig
n
e
d
 w
it
h
 h
e
r 
fu
n
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

 
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 M

a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

M
o
n
th
ly
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

2
.8
 

T
h
e
 m
in
u
te
 t
a
k
e
r 
is
 

tr
a
in
e
d
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
p
e
te
n
t 
in
 

th
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
c
c
u
ra
te
 

a
n
d
 t
im
e
ly
 m
in
u
te
s
. 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
to
 

m
in
u
te
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 H

S
C
B
 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 c
le
a
r 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
m
in
u
te
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

H
S
C
B
 

§
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
o
in
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 c
ir
c
u
la
te
d
 

w
it
h
in
 4
8
 h
o
u
rs
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

m
in
u
te
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 

a
g
re
e
d
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

A
g
e
n
d
a
s
 a
n
d
 a
ll 

re
p
o
rt
s
 c
ir
c
u
la
te
d
 

5
 w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 i
n
 

a
d
v
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

M
in
u
te
s
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 

a
n
d
 c
ir
c
u
la
te
d
 

w
it
h
in
 5
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

d
a
y
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

H
S
C
B
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 

2
.9
 

T
h
e
 c
h
a
ir
 i
n
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

s
e
ts
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
te
n
t 
a
n
d
 s
iz
e
 

o
f 
th
e
 a
g
e
n
d
a
. 
 

§
 

C
o
n
fi
rm

 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

fo
r 
id
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
in
g
 

it
e
m
s
 f
o
r 
in
c
lu
s
io
n
 o
n
 e
a
c
h
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
 

A
g
e
n
d
a
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

8
 w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 i
n
 

a
d
v
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

H
S
C
B
 C
h
a
ir
 

H
S
C
B
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

2
.1
0
 

T
h
e
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

B
o
a
rd
, 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 G
ro
u
p
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 a
re
 

c
la
ri
fi
e
d
 a
n
d
 m
a
d
e
 e
x
p
lic
it
, 

re
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

le
v
e
ls
 i
f 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
. 

§
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 s
c
o
p
e
, 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 ‘
fi
tn
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
p
u
rp
o
s
e
’ 
o
f 
th
e
 

B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
 c
le
a
r 
te
rm

s
 

o
f 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 

it
s
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

 
T
e
rm

s
 o
f 

re
fe
re
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 

re
v
is
e
d
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 

a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

H
S
C
B
 C
h
a
ir
 

H
S
C
B
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

2
.1
1
 

T
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 

o
f 
th
e
 c
h
a
ir
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
t 

in
te
rv
ie
w
 a
re
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 D
C
S
. 

§
 

C
la
ri
fy
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 t
im

e
s
c
a
le
s
- 

D
e
fe
rr
e
d
 d
u
e
 

to
 r
e
s
ig
n
a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

n
e
e
d
s
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 

w
h
e
n
 n
e
w
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

D
C
S
 

H
R
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

22



S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 – –––
 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N
    

F
IN
A
L
 V
E
R
S
IO
N
 –
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
9
 

5
 

R
e
f 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

re
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
n
 n
e
w
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
c
h
a
ir
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 

c
h
a
ir
  

C
h
a
ir
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 

2
.1
2
 

D
ir
e
c
to
rs
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 i
s
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 

c
la
ri
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
B
o
a
rd
 

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

§
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

B
o
a
rd
 t
o
 a
ll 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
D
ir
e
c
to
rs
 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 c
le
a
r 
ro
le
s
 a
n
d
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b
y
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

D
C
S
 

C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
rs
 

H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 

2
.1
3
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

a
re
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
. 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

fo
r 
H
S
C
B
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
 

H
S
C
B
 C
h
a
ir
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

H
S
C
B
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

2
.1
4
 

T
h
e
 H
S
C
B
 c
h
a
ir
 i
n
te
rv
ie
w
s
 

th
e
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

a
n
d
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 i
s
 c
o
rr
e
c
t.
 

§
 

In
te
rv
ie
w
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

a
n
d
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 G

ro
u
p
 

§
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 

B
o
a
rd
 o
n
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 a
s
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

§
 

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 

m
e
m
b
e
r 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

§
 

B
u
ild
 s
tr
o
n
g
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
s
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
c
h
a
ir
 a
n
d
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

§
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 

B
o
a
rd
 o
n
 s
tr
o
n
g
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 i
n
 

H
S
C
B
 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
 

 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

    J
u
ly
 2
0
1
0
 

 O
n
g
o
in
g
 

  J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

b
y
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

H
S
C
B
 C
h
a
ir
 

H
S
C
B
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

2
.1
5
 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 c
le
a
r 
a
u
d
it
 t
ra
il 

re
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 o
n
 

w
h
e
th
e
r 
o
r 
n
o
t 
to
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 a
 S
e
ri
o
u
s
 C
a
s
e
 

R
e
v
ie
w
. 

§
 

C
la
ri
fy
 a
n
d
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 f
o
r 
d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 

o
n
 s
e
ri
o
u
s
 c
a
s
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
s
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

A
u
d
it
 t
ra
ils
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 

q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 a
n
d
 

re
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

H
S
C
B
 

C
h
a
ir
 o
f 
Q
u
a
lit
y
 

a
n
d
 A
s
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 

s
u
b
 g
ro
u
p
 /
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
 

H
S
C
B
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

D
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 

N
u
rs
e
 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

23



S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 – –––
 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N
    

F
IN
A
L
 V
E
R
S
IO
N
 –
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
9
 

6
 

R
e
f 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

2
.1
6
 

T
h
e
 S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 

c
h
ild
 d
e
a
th
s
 a
n
d
 S
C
R
s
 a
re
 

m
a
d
e
 e
x
p
lic
it
 

§
 

C
la
ri
fy
 a
n
d
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 c
h
ild
 

d
e
a
th
s
 a
n
d
 S
C
R
s
 

§
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
 a
g
re
e
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

A
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

c
la
ri
fi
e
d
 b
y
 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
9
 

C
h
a
ir
 o
f 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

S
C
R
 a
n
d
 C
D
O
P
 

s
u
b
 g
ro
u
p
 

 

2
.1
7
 

L
e
s
s
o
n
s
 l
e
a
rn
e
d
 f
ro
m
 

S
C
R
s
 a
re
 s
y
s
te
m
a
ti
c
a
lly
 

d
is
s
e
m
in
a
te
d
 t
o
 k
e
y
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
. 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 m

e
th
o
d
o
lo
g
y
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 

d
is
s
e
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 

§
 

A
d
d
re
s
s
 k
e
y
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 l
o
c
a
lly
 

a
n
d
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 

§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
e
m
p
la
te
 f
o
r 
c
a
p
tu
ri
n
g
 

le
s
s
o
n
s
 l
e
a
rn
t 
fr
o
m
 S
C
R
s
 a
n
d
 

IM
R
s
 i
n
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

§
 

H
o
ld
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
m
u
lt
i 
a
g
e
n
c
y
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
re
fl
e
c
t 
o
n
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
 b
a
c
k
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 

p
o
in
ts
 i
n
to
 t
e
a
m
s
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 

le
s
s
o
n
s
 l
e
a
rn
t 

fr
o
m
 S
C
R
s
 

E
v
id
e
n
c
e
d
 b
y
 

a
u
d
it
 t
ra
il 
a
s
 p
a
rt
 

o
f 
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
S
e
ri
o
u
s
 

C
a
s
e
 R

e
v
ie
w
 

H
S
C
B
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

T
e
a
m
 m

a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

a
n
d
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
 s
e
t 

a
s
id
e
 r
e
g
u
la
r 

s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 f
o
r 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
y
e
a
r 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

S
C
R
 a
n
d
 C

D
O
P
 

s
u
b
 g
ro
u
p
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 /
 

W
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

s
u
b
 g
ro
u
p
 

3
 

R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 –
 C
ri
m
in
a
l 
R
e
c
o
rd
s
 B
u
re
a
u
 C
h
e
c
k
s
 (
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
) 

3
.1
 

A
 s
in
g
le
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 
re
c
o
rd
in
g
 

s
y
s
te
m
 t
o
 t
ra
c
k
 a
ll 
C
R
B
 

c
h
e
c
k
s
. 

§
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 c
e
n
tr
a
lis
e
d
 C
R
B
 

T
e
a
m
 w
it
h
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 C
R
B
 c
h
e
c
k
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
n
d
 n
o
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
to
rs
, 

v
o
lu
n
te
e
rs
 a
n
d
 u
m
b
re
lla
 b
o
d
y
 

c
h
e
c
k
s
. 
 

 § 
R
e
c
o
rd
 a
ll 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 C
R
B
 

c
h
e
c
k
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
H
R
 

s
y
s
te
m
 

  

C
R
B
 T
e
a
m
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

C
R
B
 T
e
a
m
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

fo
r 
a
ll 
c
h
e
c
k
s
 

b
y
 M

a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

C
R
B
 T
e
a
m
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 f
o
r 
a
ll 

C
R
B
 c
h
e
c
k
s
 b
y
 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

        

A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 (
H
R
) 

H
R
 M

a
n
a
g
e
rs
 /
 

C
R
B
 T
e
a
m
 

24



S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 – –––
 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N
    

F
IN
A
L
 V
E
R
S
IO
N
 –
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
9
 

7
 

R
e
f 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

§
 

H
o
ld
 r
e
c
o
rd
s
 f
o
r 
n
o
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 

o
n
 a
 s
e
p
a
ra
te
 s
y
s
te
m
 p
e
n
d
in
g
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 H
R
 

s
y
s
te
m
 i
n
 O

c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

§
 

S
tr
e
a
m
lin
e
 r
e
c
o
rd
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 

c
o
n
s
is
te
n
c
y
 o
f 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

re
c
o
rd
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

§
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 a
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
H
S
C
B
 

  A
g
re
s
s
o
 H
R
 

s
y
s
te
m
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

3
.2
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 C
R
B
 

c
h
e
c
k
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 f
o
llo
w
e
d
. 

§
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
n
e
w
 C
R
B
 P
o
lic
y
 &
 

P
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 D
C
S
F
 

g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 s
a
fe
r 
re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
in
 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

P
o
lic
y
 

a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 

e
n
d
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
 

N
e
w
 C

R
B
 P
o
lic
y
 

a
n
d
 P
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
. 

A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 (
H
R
) 

H
R
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

(E
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 

R
e
la
ti
o
n
s
) 

3
.3
 

A
 n
a
m
e
d
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 

§
 

A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 –
H
R
 

&
 O

D
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
s
 t
h
e
 L
e
a
d
 

C
o
u
n
te
r-
s
ig
n
a
to
ry
 f
o
r 
C
R
B
. 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 (
H
R
) 

 

3
.4
 

A
 s
y
s
te
m
 i
s
 s
e
t 
u
p
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 p
o
lic
y
 i
s
 

re
a
d
, 
u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
 a
n
d
 

a
c
ti
o
n
e
d
 

§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
 

fo
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 

e
m
b
e
d
d
in
g
 o
f 
n
e
w
 C

R
B
 P
o
lic
y
 

B
y
 e
n
d
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
 

R
e
g
u
la
r 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 o
f 

c
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 t
o
 

J
M
T
 a
n
d
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

G
ro
u
p
. 

A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 (
H
R
) 

H
R
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

(E
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 

R
e
la
ti
o
n
s
) 

3
.5
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 T
ru
s
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 o
n
 a
 

q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 b
a
s
is
. 

§
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 T
ru
s
t 

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 

C
R
B
 C

o
o
rd
in
a
to
r 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

3
.6
 

T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 

H
R
 a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
 

s
p
e
c
if
ic
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r 

s
a
fe
r 
re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t.
 

§
 

C
R
B
 T
e
a
m
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 (
H
R
) 

 

3
.7
 

T
h
e
 D
C
S
 a
g
re
e
s
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 

o
n
 s
a
fe
r 
re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 a
 
§
 

A
g
re
e
 C
R
B
 P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

P
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
 

P
o
lic
y
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

D
C
S
 

H
R
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

25



S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 – –––
 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N
    

F
IN
A
L
 V
E
R
S
IO
N
 –
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
9
 

8
 

R
e
f 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

m
a
tt
e
r 
o
f 
u
rg
e
n
c
y
  

4
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
(H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
) 

4
.1
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
r 
a
n
d
 

te
a
m
 m
a
n
a
g
e
r 
a
g
re
e
 t
h
e
 

b
e
s
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

o
f 
d
a
ta
 t
o
 d
ri
v
e
 t
h
e
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
 t
e
a
m
. 

§
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 d
a
ta
 a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 b
e
s
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 i
n
 l
in
e
 

w
it
h
 b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
ro
a
c
ti
v
e
 d
a
ta
 i
e
 t
o
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
re
n
d
s
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
y
 

o
c
c
u
r 

§
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
a
g
re
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

D
a
ta
 a
n
d
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
9
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
&
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

w
it
h
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

+
 s
ta
ff
 

4
.2
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
re
 

s
e
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 t
e
a
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
s
ta
ff
in
g
. 

§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
e
a
m
 p
la
n
 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
ti
n
g
 a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le
, 
b
u
t 

s
tr
e
tc
h
in
g
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

§
 

In
c
lu
d
e
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 i
n
 d
a
ta
s
e
t 
fo
r 
D
L
T
 a
n
d
 

H
S
C
B
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

   F
ro
m
 J
u
ly
 

2
0
0
9
 

T
e
a
m
 p
la
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 

a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
  
A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
9
 

D
a
ta
s
e
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 

b
y
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

4
.3
 

A
 t
ra
in
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
s
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
. 
§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
ra
in
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 n
e
e
d
s
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 t
e
a
m
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 b
y
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 b
y
 

J
u
ly
  
2
0
0
9
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

H
R
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

(L
e
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t)
 

4
.4
 

T
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 e
n
g
a
g
e
s
 

w
it
h
 k
e
y
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
s
 a
 

m
a
tt
e
r 
o
f 
u
rg
e
n
c
y
 t
o
 c
la
ri
fy
 

th
e
 e
li
g
ib
il
it
y
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
m
e
th
o
d
s
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 u
s
e
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
. 

§
 

C
o
n
fi
rm

 t
h
re
s
h
o
ld
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 f
o
r 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 b
e
s
t 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
 

§
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
m
e
th
o
d
s
 t
o
 a
ll 
k
e
y
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

T
h
re
s
h
o
ld
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 

a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
d
 b
y
 

3
1
 M

a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

S
a
m
p
le
 a
u
d
it
 o
f 

c
a
s
e
s
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 

to
 c
h
e
c
k
 

c
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

P
a
rt
n
e
r 

a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

26



S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 – –––
 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N
    

F
IN
A
L
 V
E
R
S
IO
N
 –
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
9
 

9
 

R
e
f 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

4
.5
 

T
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

re
in
v
ig
o
ra
te
s
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
 o
n
 

C
A
F
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

s
h
a
re
d
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
. 

§
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
d
it
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
C
A
F
 

§
 

E
n
s
u
re
 f
u
ll 
im

p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

tr
a
in
in
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

C
A
F
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 b
y
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 

H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

P
a
rt
n
e
r 

a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 

4
.6
 

T
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 C
A
F
 i
s
 

c
lo
s
e
ly
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 r
e
fe
rr
a
ls
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

R
&
A
 t
e
a
m
 

§
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
im

p
a
c
t 

o
f 
C
A
F
 o
n
 r
e
fe
rr
a
ls
 

§
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 m

o
n
th
ly
 t
o
 D
L
T
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

M
o
n
th
ly
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 

to
 D

L
T
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

4
.7
 

T
h
e
 t
e
a
m
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
s
 a
 m
o
re
 

a
s
s
e
rt
iv
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 

m
in
im
u
m
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 o
f 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 w
h
e
n
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 

re
fe
rr
a
ls
. 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 m

in
im

u
m
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 o
f 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

§
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 t
o
 a
ll 

k
e
y
 a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 

§
 

M
o
n
it
o
r 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

M
in
im

u
m
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

W
e
e
k
ly
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 

4
.8
 

T
h
e
 t
e
a
m
 c
la
ri
fi
e
s
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
tu
s
 o
f 
th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

ta
k
e
n
 b
y
 s
o
c
ia
l 
w
o
rk
e
rs
 

a
n
d
 m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
. 
 

T
h
e
 t
e
a
m
 r
e
v
ie
w
s
 t
h
e
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 

th
e
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 b
y
 d
u
ty
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 c
le
a
r 
p
ro
to
c
o
ls
 f
o
r 

d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 t
e
a
m
 

§
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
to
c
o
ls
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

P
ro
to
c
o
ls
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

P
ro
to
c
o
ls
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 b
y
 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
9
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 

4
.9
 

T
h
e
 I
T
 d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
v
id
e
s
 s
h
o
rt
 t
e
rm
, 

d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
, 
o
n
s
it
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

to
 t
h
e
 t
e
a
m
. 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

fo
r 
th
e
 R
&
A
 t
e
a
m
 

§
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 I
C
T
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b
y
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 

IC
T
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

27



S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 – –––
 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N
    

F
IN
A
L
 V
E
R
S
IO
N
 –
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
9
 

1
0
 

R
e
f 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

4
.1
0
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 

th
e
 t
e
a
m
 a
re
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 

a
 m
a
tt
e
r 
o
f 
u
rg
e
n
c
y
. 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
te
rm

 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
i 

tr
a
in
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

te
a
m
 

§
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 I
C
T
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 

d
e
liv
e
r 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

   A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b
y
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 

IC
T
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

4
.1
1
 

T
h
e
 r
e
s
id
u
a
l 
p
a
p
e
r 
b
a
s
e
d
 

s
y
s
te
m
s
 a
re
 p
ro
p
e
rl
y
 

a
rc
h
iv
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
c
c
e
s
s
. 
 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 r
e
te
n
ti
o
n
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
 f
o
r 

p
a
p
e
r 
fi
le
s
 

§
 

A
rc
h
iv
e
 p
a
p
e
r 
fi
le
s
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

R
e
te
n
ti
o
n
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b
y
 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
9
 

A
rc
h
iv
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 

M
o
d
e
rn
 R

e
c
o
rd
s
 

4
.1
2
 

T
h
e
 p
a
p
e
r 
s
y
s
te
m
s
 a
re
 

fu
lly
 m
ig
ra
te
d
 t
o
 a
n
 I
T
 

b
a
s
e
d
 s
y
s
te
m
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
. 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
 f
o
r 
fu
ll 

m
ig
ra
ti
o
n
 t
o
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
i 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

M
ig
ra
ti
o
n
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

P
ro
je
c
t 
T
e
a
m
 

4
.1
3
 

T
h
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

a
s
s
u
m
e
s
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r 

th
e
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
o
f 
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

w
o
rk
. 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
s
 a
re
 e
x
p
lic
it
 

T
ra
n
s
fe
r 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 i
s
 

e
x
p
lic
it
. 
 

§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 f
o
r 
tr
a
n
s
fe
r 

o
f 
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 w
o
rk
 

§
 

E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
s
 e
x
p
lic
it
 t
im

e
s
c
a
le
s
 

§
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

to
 k
e
y
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

P
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
9
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

4
.1
4
 

T
ra
n
s
fe
r 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 &
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 R
&
A
 t
e
a
m
 c
o
re
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
. 
  

§
 

M
o
n
it
o
r 
tr
a
n
s
fe
r 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
re
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

§
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
s
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

M
o
n
th
ly
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

4
.1
5
 

A
 B
e
s
t 
V
a
lu
e
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 i
s
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
 

th
e
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 s
c
o
p
e
 o
f 
B
e
s
t 
V
a
lu
e
 

e
x
e
rc
is
e
 

§
 

S
e
e
k
 c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n
s
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

B
e
s
t 
V
a
lu
e
 

e
x
e
rc
is
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 

a
n
d
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

28



S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 

S
A
F
E
G
U
A
R
D
IN
G
 R
E
V
IE
W
 – –––
 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N

 A
C
T
IO
N
 P
L
A
N
    

F
IN
A
L
 V
E
R
S
IO
N
 –
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
9
 

1
1
 

R
e
f 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

L
e
a
d
 a
n
d
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 

§
 

C
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
ti
v
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 b
y
 

J
u
ly
  
2
0
0
9
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 

re
v
is
e
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
  

C
h
ild
re
n
 

 

29



30



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Hilary Hall, Performance Improvement Manager 
on (01432) 260801 

 

CAAandQ3PerformanceDigestreport0.doc  

 COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT AND 
PERFORMANCE DIGEST – OCTOBER-DECEMBER 
2008/2009 

Report By: Director of Children’s Services 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To summarise the proposals for assessing children’s services under the Comprehensive 
Area Assessment and to present the Performance Digest for Children’s Services for the 
third quarter, October to December 2008.  Key issues are highlighted, in particular 
performance in respect of the Local Area Agreement indicators. 

Financial Implications 

2. Remedial action in respect of the directorate’s performance may require reallocation of 
resources within existing budgets.  This is being addressed by the Directorate 
Leadership Team. 

Background 

3. From 1 April 2009, the Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA) will replace the current 
Comprehensive Performance Assessment.  CAA will assess those outcomes delivered 
by councils working alone or in partnership.  The starting point will be the locally agreed 
priorities in the Local Area Agreement (LAA) and the Herefordshire Sustainable 
Community Strategy.  The CAA will assess the prospects for the future achievement of 
these priorities by the Council and its partners.  Children and young people will be a key 
focus within the CAA and will have a rigorous inspection regime, detailed below. 

4. The Performance Digest is already produced quarterly and is the mechanism for 
monitoring key performance indicators, covering service delivery captured in the LAA, 
the Children and Young People’s Directorate and the Children and Young People’s Plan. 
Copies of the digest for the third quarter have been issued to the Committee as a 
separate document and are available either on the web site or on request. 

Considerations 

Comprehensive Area Assessment 

5. Ofsted has now published its proposals for assessing children’s services under CAA.  In 
summary, they are: 

§ An annual rating for children’s services to comply with the requirements of the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 – this was formerly produced through the 
Annual Performance Assessment 

AGENDA ITEM 8

31



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Hilary Hall, Performance Improvement Manager 
on (01432) 260801 

 

CAAandQ3PerformanceDigestreport0.doc  

§ A new ‘performance profile’, updated quarterly, based on performance against 
indicators in the National Indicator Set and inspections of settings and schools 

§ A new three yearly programme of inspections of services for children in care and 
safeguarding 

§ Annual, unannounced safeguarding visits to local authority contact, referral and 
assessment centres 

These are new requirements, replacing the Annual Performance Assessment and the 
Joint Area Review.  They will present a challenging framework of assessment, focusing 
on partnership working as well as the core business of service delivery by the Council 
and schools. 

Local Area Agreement 

6. In addition to the statutory education targets, there are six children related indicators in 
the LAA.  The Quarter 3 outturns for these indicators are highlighted below with the 
2010/2011 target shown in brackets: 

§ NI 19:  Rate of proven re-offending – outturn 67 [for the six months April to 
September 2008] (113) 

§ NI 51:  Effectiveness of CAMHS – outturn 15 (16) 

§ NI 56:  Obesity among primary school children in Year 6 – outturn 16.7% (15.3%) 

§ NI 57:  Children’s participation in high quality PE and sport – outturn 95% (96%) 

§ NI 110:  Young people’s participation in positive activities – outturn 86.2% (94%) 

§ NI 117:  Percentage of 16-18 year olds who are not in education, employment or 
training [NEET] – outturn 5.9% (4.7%) 

7. The one area where there remains concern about meeting the LAA target is in relation to 
NI 117.  This has been impacted by the recession and general downturn in the economy 
where the percentage of young people who are NEET is higher than this quarter last 
year.  Young people leaving school/college have not been able to access employment 
and young people who were in jobs are being made redundant.  Limited post-16 NEET 
provision in the county over the last year, due to difficulties with contracting, has also 
impacted negatively.  However, this provision has now come on stream. 

8. Work is in progress with the Herefordshire Partnership to identify the risks to the 
achievement of all the indicators in the LAA and the measures needed to mitigate them. 

Performance Digest 

9. Aside from the LAA indicators, other key areas in each of the outcome areas, to which 
the Committee’s attention should be drawn, are set out below.  The risks to the 
achievement of all the other indicators are identified by the responsible officer as part of 
their service planning and escalated to the directorate risk register, and corporate risk 
register, as appropriate.  Day to day management of risk is undertaken by responsible 
officers in conjunction with their Heads of Service. 

Be Healthy 

91% of children in care had a dental check and an annual health assessment in 2008 
(PAF CF/C19), slightly ahead of the target of 90% and ahead of the statistical neighbour 
average for 2007/2008 of 87%.  700 young people had a Chlamydia screen in quarter 3 
(NI 113b) but this is still well short of the target which is very challenging; engaging 
young people to be screened opportunistically when they have no symptoms is 

32



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Hilary Hall, Performance Improvement Manager 
on (01432) 260801 

 

CAAandQ3PerformanceDigestreport0.doc  

particularly difficult.  The prevalence of Chlamydia (NI 113a) is 6.71% which is below the 
national prevalence rate of 10%. 

Staying Safe 

The new social care system, Frameworki, went live on 10 November 2008.  It has proved 
particularly difficult to extract data for a number of indicators for quarter 3, particularly for 
children in care.  There has been previous good performance in relation to a number of 
these indicators and there is no reason to believe that performance has slipped.  
However, as with any new system, it will take time for new working practices to become 
embedded.  The number of referrals (CH141) has risen in the quarter, as expected, 
because of the change to Frameworki with each child in a sibling group having a 
separate referral.   

Repeat referrals (CH142) are reducing slightly at 21.9% but still above target of 18%.  
The percentage of initial assessments carried out within 7 working days of referral (NI 
59) is still an area for significant concern at 48.4%.  Although there is some caution 
regarding the reliability of the data, performance has been affected by the demands on 
staff to adapt to the newly introduced Integrated Children’s System, alongside the 
change of ICT system, Frameworki.  This has introduced a new and complex workflow 
system which will, in the long term, enhance performance.  However, there have been 
‘glitches’ in the system which have prevented timely completion of some episodes of 
assessments.  The Directorate Leadership Team has taken action to strengthen the 
support of service delivery in this area by employing temporary Data Improvement 
Officers within each team, line managed by the Performance Improvement Manager.  
These posts will be filled for a three month period and will carry out both data input and 
data quality checking to ensure a consistency of approach across the whole service.  

Enjoy and Achieve 

Although 69.4% of pupils achieved 5 or more A*-C GCSEs, a rise of 7.4% on 2007 and 
3.7% above the national average, Key Stage 1 and achievement in the Early Year 
Foundation Stage remain key areas of focus, as previously reported.  Educational 
attainment of children in care in the 2008 examinations has maintained previous high 
standards.  11 out of a cohort of 14 sat at least one GCSE or equivalent examination 
(DIS 1406) and 4 of the cohort achieved 5 A*-C GCSEs including English and Maths (NI 
101).  Attendance of children in care has also improved in both primary and secondary 
schools (HCS 35b and c).  The percentage of children missing a total of at least 25 days 
(HCS 35a) has significantly improved from 2007/2008’s outturn of 15.4% to 7%. 

Make a Positive Contribution 

The provisional outturn for final warnings, reprimands and convictions of children in care 
(PAF CF/18) shows improvement on last year and reflects the work undertaken by the 
Youth Offending Service and the multi-agency Prevent and Deter Group.  The Youth 
Service is on track to achieve its target of young people gaining an accredited outcome 
(BV 221b) but is unlikely to achieve the target for young people gaining a recorded 
outcome (BV 221a). 

Achieve Economic Wellbeing 

The limited post-16 NEET provision referred to above has also impacted on young 
offenders’ engagement in education, training and employment (NI 45) although it is 
anticipated that the target will be achieved.  The number of families occupying bed and 
breakfast accommodation (CYP-AEW1) has achieved the target of zero for quarter 3.  
This is despite the increase in the number of families accepted as homeless. 

Service Management 

33



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Hilary Hall, Performance Improvement Manager 
on (01432) 260801 

 

CAAandQ3PerformanceDigestreport0.doc  

There has been a slight decrease in the social care expenditure indicators during quarter 
3 due to a reduction in fostering numbers and the cost of agency placements.  Vacancy 
rates in children’s social care remain a concern.  The percentage of posts that were 
vacant at the quarter end was 13.5%, considerably higher than the 2007/2008 outturn of 
7.4%.  Recruitment and retention of social workers remains a key area of focus for the 
directorate.  The social worker establishment currently stands at 44.2 FTE against a 
target of 57 FTE.  The number of working days lost to sickness absence per FTE across 
the directorate stands at 11.56 days, above the target of 8 days (HR02). 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Committee assess the levels of performance achieved for the 
third quarter of 2008/2009 and consider if further reports and/or 
action is judged to be necessary. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None identified 

34



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
   

Further information on this report is available from Rob Reid, 

,Schools Access and Planning Manager on tel 01432 260920 

 CAPITAL BUDGET REPORT 2008/09 
 

Report By: Schools Planning & Access Manager 

 
Wards Affected 
 

  Countywide 
 

Purpose 
 
1. To report the capital budget position for 2008/09 for the Children & Young People’s 

Directorate and to provide detailed information on variances between planned 
expenditure and the forecast outturn at 31st March 2009.   

 

Financial Implications  
 
2. As set out in the report. 
 

Background 
 
3. At the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee meeting on 8th December 2008 

Members requested that greater explanation of funding sources e.g. Sec 106 grants 
and lottery funding, be included in future reports.  Officers have worked hard to 
ensure that this and future reports will provide Members with the information they 
need in order to carry out their scrutiny role effectively. Also at the meeting on 8th 
December, Members requested that the issues of temporary classroom 
accommodation be added to the work programme.  As a result, Members will have 
received a briefing note on temporary classroom accommodation.     

 
4. The Capital Programme Monitoring Summary, as at 16th March 2009, is at annexe 1 

to this report. 
 

5. The planned capital spend for 2008/09 is £17.6m.  The actual forecast spend is 
£14.6m.  The bulk of the variance of £3.0m is accounted for by a small number of 
capital schemes, the balances for which can be carried forward to 2009/10.  

 
6. It is not unusual for capital schemes to experience some slippage, requiring budgets 

to be re-profiled across financial years.  To a certain extent, this is the nature of 
capital schemes, which are often developed and implemented over a 3 year period.  
However, the Council seeks to minimise slippage where at all possible through its 
capital monitoring processes at both Directorate and Corporate levels.  The under 
spend for 2008/09 equates to 17% of the capital budget and Members will see from 
this report that a significant proportion of this is due to a contractor on a major school 
rebuild scheme going into administration, resulting in several months delay to the 
build programme. 

 
7. Financial year end variances between profiled spend and actual spend are reported 

to Cabinet and under spends are carried forward to the new financial year.  Where 
the funding is received through a grant a request is made to the funding body, which 
in most cases is the Department for Children, Schools and Families, for any under 
spend to be carried forward to the new financial year.  Requests have been made in 
respect of all grant funded schemes which are forecast to under spend by the end of 
the 2008/09 financial year.  All of these requests have received approval from the 
relevant funding body.          

AGENDA ITEM 9

35



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
   

Further information on this report is available from Rob Reid, 

,Schools Access and Planning Manager on tel 01432 260920 

 
8. The variance of spend against budget is accounted for as follows: 
 

8.1  Riverside Primary School – Forecast outturn £1,042,885 less than    
planned spend in 2008/09  

 
This scheme has been delayed due to the appointed contractor going into 
administration.  A contract has now been put in place with another contractor 
to complete the scheme.  The balance of the 2008/09 funding will be carried 
forward to 2009/10. 

 
8.2 Sutton Primary School - Forecast outturn £169,380 more than  planned 

spend in 2008/09  
 
 It is important to stress that this scheme has not over spent.  Cabinet approval 

for this scheme, which was to build a replacement school, was granted on the 
basis that the scheme would be funded in part by a proportion of the capital 
receipt from the sale of the old Goodrich Primary School.  The old school has 
been sold and the Council is expecting a capital receipt in respect of this sale 
imminently.   

 
8.3 Holmer Flood Alleviation - Forecast outturn £179,419 less than planned 

spend in 2008/09  
 

Immediate preventative works have been carried out, but the main work will 
be undertaken in the new financial year.  The balance of the budget will 
therefore be carried forward to 2009/10. 

 
8.4 Accessibility – Individual Pupil Needs - Forecast outturn £150,000 less 

than planned spend in 2008/09  
 

This budget is used to address specific accessibility issues for pupils who 
would otherwise be disabled from accessing the curriculum.  A number of 
schemes have been successfully completed, but there are a number of 
schemes still in progress, to be completed in time for pupils joining schools in 
September 2009.  The balance of the budget will be carried forward to 
2009/10 to meet these commitments.    

 
8.5 Widemarsh Children’s Centre - Forecast outturn £192,500 less than 

planned spend in 2008/09  
 

Scheme delayed by a planning requirement to provide a flood plain analysis.  
Balance to be carried forward to spend in 2009/10.  Children's Centre to take 
part occupation in April 2009 and full occupation by June 2009.  

 
8.6 Quality & Access for all young children -  Forecast outturn £633,644 less 

than DCSF grant allocation for 2008/09  
 

This is the first year grant of a 3 year grant programme.  Along with almost all 
local authorities, Herefordshire's expenditure will be low in this first year due to 
the necessary consultation process with childcare providers on targeting this 
funding to need and to ensure that a robust and transparent grant bidding 
process is in place.  The DCSF has confirmed that the balance can be carried 
forward to 2009/10.  

 
 

36



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
   

Further information on this report is available from Rob Reid, 

,Schools Access and Planning Manager on tel 01432 260920 

8.7 Section 106 - £320,661 of developer contributions to spend within time-
scales which are specific to individual contributions.  

 
The Town & Country Planning Act 1990 allows a local authority to negotiate 
financial contributions from developers in respect of infrastructure and 
services.  The Council’s Planning Obligation Supplementary Planning 
Guidance document provides a framework for negotiating contributions for 
Children & Young People’s Services, including schools. 

 
Contributions are used to meet the highest asset management plan priorities 
of the individual school, or groups of schools/establishments in an area, if 
specific schools are not named.   

 
The following Section 106 developer contributions are currently held by the 
Children & Young People’s Directorate: 

 
8.7.1 The Bradbury Lines, Hereford, developer contribution of £182,443 is 

provided for education facilities in the area.  Possible beneficiaries are: 
St. Martin's Primary, Our Lady's RC Primary, Blackmarston Special 
School and swimming provision.  The deadline for spend is 25th 
January 2011.       

 
8.7.2 The Pentland Gardens, Hereford, developer contribution of £46,878 for 

Trinity Primary School will be spent in 2009/10. 
 
8.7.3 The Bullingham Lane developer contribution of £34,090 for St. Martin’s 

Primary School is available to spend on the school’s highest asset 
management plan priority in 2009/10. 

 
8.7.4 The Withies Road (2) developer contribution of £39,407 will be spent in 

2009/10 upon agreement with Withington Primary School and 
Aylestone High School on the highest asset management plan 
priority(ies) to be addressed. 

 
8.7.5 The Coughton, Ross-on-Wye, developer contribution of £9,000 will be 

spent in 2009/10 to help provide sufficient Year 7 places at John Kyrle 
High School for September 2009. 

 
8.7.6 The balance of £8,842 from the Old Road, Bromyard development will 

be spent by St Peter’s Primary School in 2009/10. 
 
8.8 Hollybush Children’s Centre - Forecast outturn £140,000 less than 

planned spend for 2008/09  
 

Remodelling feasibility delayed due to temporary insufficient capacity within 
architectural services.  The scheme is now in for planning.  The balance will 
be carried forward for spend in 2009/10.   

 
 
8.9 Extended Schools Grants - Forecast outturn £312,768 less than planned 

spend for 2008/09  
 

Extended schools providers are invited to bid for capital grants through a 2 
stage process.  The first stage is for the bidder to seek agreement in principle 
to grant funding towards their particular project.  If bids are approved in 
principle, then the applicant is invited to submit a full business case.  Upon 
approval of the business case, a grant is then made.     

37



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
   

Further information on this report is available from Rob Reid, 

,Schools Access and Planning Manager on tel 01432 260920 

 
£150,268 to be carried forward for bids in 2009/10. 

 
£162,500 awarded in grants which have yet to be claimed as individual 
schools work towards implementing their plans.  This funding will be carried 
forward to 2009/10. 

 
8.10 Harnessing Technology Grant - Forecast outturn £247,758 less than 

planned spend for 2008/09  
 

Grant devolved to schools.  Schools have until August 2009 to spend. 
Balances held by schools will be carried forward in school budgets 
automatically to 2009/10.  The Council will monitor spend between April and 
July 2009 to ensure that the devolved grant allocations are spent by 31st 
August.    

 
8.11 The total net under spend of the above schemes is £3.0m.  This will be carried 

forward to spend on the relevant schemes in 2009/10. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

THAT the report be noted 
 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 None 

38



C
h
il
d
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
's
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
: 
C
a
p
it
a
l 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 S
u
m
m
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 -
  
A
n
n
e
x
e
 1

B
u
d
g
e
t 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 

a
t 
1
6
/0
3
/0
9

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

O
u
tt
u
rn
 a
t 

3
1
/0
3
/0
9

F
u
n
d
in
g

£
£

£
S
o
u
rc
e

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 o
n
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
v
a
ri
a
n
c
e
s

B
u
il
d
in
g
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s
 -
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d

J
o
h
n
 M
a
s
e
fi
e
ld
 -
 S
c
ie
n
c
e
 L
a
b
s
 r
e
te
n
ti
o
n

1
9
,3
0
4

2
2
,0
3
1

2
2
,0
3
1
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

A
s
h
p
e
rt
o
n
 -
 p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld

1
1
,8
1
1

1
1
,8
1
1

1
1
,8
1
1
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

J
o
h
n
 K
y
rl
e
 -
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

5
,0
0
0

5
,8
1
7

5
,8
1
7
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

A
y
le
s
to
n
e
 -
 r
e
te
n
ti
o
n

7
,0
0
0

6
,9
2
2

6
,9
2
2
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

K
in
g
s
to
n
e
 H
ig
h
 -
 s
p
o
rt
s
 h
a
ll

6
0
2

6
5
6

6
5
6
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

W
e
o
b
le
y
 H
ig
h
  
- 
 s
p
o
rt
s
 h
a
ll

2
7
,0
0
0

2
6
,9
9
4

2
6
,9
9
4
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

F
o
rm

e
r 
W
h
it
e
c
ro
s
s
 H
ig
h
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
b
u
ild
in
g
 -
 d
e
m
o
lit
io
n

2
0
0
,0
0
0

2
4
2
,8
6
7

2
4
2
,8
6
7
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g
D
e
m
o
lit
io
n
 c
o
s
ts
 e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
. 
 T
o
 b
e
 r
e
c
o
u
p
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
re
c
e
ip
t 
w
h
e
n
 l
a
n
d
 i
s
 

s
o
ld
.

S
u
tt
o
n
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 r
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
s
c
h
o
o
l

4
2
7
,0
0
0

5
9
6
,3
8
0

5
9
6
,3
8
0
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

T
h
is
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 p
a
rt
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 f
ro
m
 a
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
re
c
e
ip
t 
fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 s
a
le
 o
f 
th
e
 

o
ld
 G
o
o
d
ri
c
h
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 S
c
h
o
o
l.
  
T
h
e
 o
ld
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
o
ld
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 "
o
v
e
r 
s
p
e
n
d
" 
w
ill
 b
e
 

c
o
v
e
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
re
c
e
ip
t.
  
 

B
u
il
d
in
g
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s
 -
 i
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s

R
iv
e
rs
id
e
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 -
 1
0
0
%
 n
e
w
 b
u
ild

2
,7
4
2
,8
8
5

1
,6
6
0
,5
7
0

1
,7
0
0
,0
0
0
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

T
h
is
s
c
h
e
m
e
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
d
e
la
y
e
d
d
u
e
to

th
e
a
p
p
o
in
te
d
c
o
n
tr
a
c
to
r
g
o
in
g
in
to

a
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
.
A

c
o
n
tr
a
c
t
h
a
s
n
o
w

b
e
e
n
p
u
t
in

p
la
c
e
w
it
h
a
n
o
th
e
r
c
o
n
tr
a
c
to
r
to

c
o
m
p
le
te

th
e
s
c
h
e
m
e
.
T
h
e

b
a
la
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
.

H
o
lm
e
r 
S
c
h
o
o
l 
F
lo
o
d
 A
lle
v
ia
ti
o
n

1
9
0
,0
0
0

1
0
,5
8
1

1
0
,5
8
1
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

Im
m
e
d
ia
te

p
re
v
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
w
o
rk
s
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
c
a
rr
ie
d
o
u
t,
b
u
t
th
e
m
a
in
w
o
rk

w
ill
b
e
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
in

th
e

n
e
w

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l
y
e
a
r.

T
h
e

b
a
la
n
c
e

o
f
th
e

b
u
d
g
e
t
w
ill

th
e
re
fo
re

b
e

c
a
rr
ie
d

fo
rw
a
rd

to

2
0
0
9
/1
0
.

B
a
rr
s
 C
o
u
rt
 H
y
d
ro
s
e
n
s
e
 F
a
c
ili
ty

7
2
1
,3
0
5

4
1
4
,4
6
8

7
2
0
,0
0
0

E
x
te
rn
a
l 
F
u
n
d
in
g

H
e
re
fo
rd
 S
k
a
te
 P
a
rk

5
0
,0
0
0

5
0
,0
0
0

5
0
,0
0
0

B
ig
 L
o
tt
e
ry

T
h
e
 M
in
s
te
r 
C
o
lle
g
e
 -
 B
S
F
 P
a
th
fi
n
d
e
r-
 1
0
0
%
 n
e
w
 b
u
ild

3
,8
8
1
,3
0
7

3
,1
9
2
,2
4
3

3
,8
3
7
,0
0
0

B
S
F
 G
ra
n
t

A
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 -
 I
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
P
u
p
il 
N
e
e
d
s

2
6
0
,0
0
0

7
3
,0
0
3

1
1
0
,0
0
0
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

T
h
is
b
u
d
g
e
t
is
u
s
e
d
to

a
d
d
re
s
s
s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
is
s
u
e
s
fo
r
p
u
p
ils

w
h
o
w
o
u
ld
o
th
e
rw
is
e
b
e

d
is
a
b
le
d

fr
o
m

a
c
c
e
s
s
in
g

th
e

c
u
rr
ic
u
lu
m
.

A
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
lly

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
,
b
u
t
th
e
re

a
re

a
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
s
ti
ll
in

p
ro
g
re
s
s
,
to

b
e
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
in

ti
m
e
fo
r

p
u
p
ils

jo
in
in
g
s
c
h
o
o
ls
in

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r
2
0
0
9
.
T
h
e
b
a
la
n
c
e
o
f
th
e
b
u
d
g
e
t
w
ill
b
e
c
a
rr
ie
d
fo
rw
a
rd

to
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
s
e
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
ts
. 
  

B
u
il
d
in
g
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s
 -
 d
e
s
ig
n
 s
ta
g
e

H
e
re
fo
rd
 A
c
a
d
e
m
y
 -
 1
0
0
%
 n
e
w
 b
u
ild

1
9
2
,6
2
4

1
2
7
,6
9
7

1
9
0
,0
0
0

A
c
a
d
e
m
ie
s
 G
ra
n
t

B
u
il
d
in
g
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s
 -
 m

a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 M
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e

1
,0
1
1
,8
8
0

9
3
2
,9
9
3

1
,0
1
2
,0
0
0
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

T
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 C
la
s
s
ro
o
m
s
 -
 r
e
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s

1
5
0
,5
0
0

9
9
,3
4
5

1
5
0
,5
0
0
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

B
u
il
d
in
g
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s
 T
o
ta
l

9
,8
9
8
,2
1
8

  
  
  
 

7
,4
7
4
,3
7
8

  
  
  

8
,6
9
3
,5
5
9

  
  
  

C
h
il
d
re
n
's
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
 &
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls

L
e
d
b
u
ry
 C
h
ild
re
n
s
 C
e
n
tr
e

1
8
,0
0
0

2
,7
7
0

2
,7
7
0

G
ra
n
t

B
a
la
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
is
 r
e
te
n
ti
o
n
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
to
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 2
0
0
9
/1
0

R
o
s
s
 C
h
ild
re
n
s
 C
e
n
tr
e

3
0
,0
0
0

8
,5
5
3

3
0
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

H
o
lly
b
u
s
h
 C
h
ild
re
n
s
 C
e
n
tr
e

1
5
0
,0
0
0

9
,4
3
3

1
0
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

F
e
a
s
ib
ili
ty
 d
e
la
y
e
d
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 i
n
s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 o
f 
a
rc
h
it
e
c
tu
ra
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 .
  
B
a
la
n
c
e
 

w
ill
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 f
o
r 
s
p
e
n
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
. 
 

C
o
n
n
in
g
s
b
y
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 C
e
n
tr
e

1
2
,0
0
0

1
5
,1
4
9

1
5
,1
4
9

G
ra
n
t

K
in
g
to
n
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 C
e
n
tr
e

3
9
,1
1
3

4
7
,4
4
5

4
7
,4
4
5

G
ra
n
t

39



W
id
e
m
a
rs
h
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 C
e
n
tr
e
, 
H
e
re
fo
rd

8
9
2
,5
0
0

5
2
5
,3
0
0

7
0
0
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

S
c
h
e
m
e
 d
e
la
y
e
d
 b
y
 a
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 f
lo
o
d
 p
la
in
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
. 
 B
a
la
n
c
e
 t
o
 b
e
 

c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 s
p
e
n
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
. 
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 C
e
n
tr
e
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
a
rt
 o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

a
n
d
 f
u
ll 
o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 b
y
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
. 

G
o
ld
e
n
 V
a
lle
y
 -
 P
e
te
rc
h
u
rc
h
 -
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 C
e
n
tr
e

2
4
0
,0
0
0

2
5
5
,0
0
0

2
5
5
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 S
y
s
te
m
 f
o
r 
P
a
re
n
ts
 &
 P
ro
v
id
e
rs

2
3
,4
9
9

3
,6
4
6

1
4
,5
0
0

G
ra
n
t

D
C
S
F
 a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
to
 c
a
rr
y
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
c
o
s
ts
 o
f 
n
e
w
 I
C
T
 s
e
rv
e
rs
.

Q
u
a
lit
y
 &
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
A
ll 
Y
o
u
n
g
 C
h
ild
re
n

8
3
3
,6
4
4

0
2
0
0
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

T
h
is

is
th
e

fi
rs
t
y
e
a
r
g
ra
n
t
o
f
a

3
y
e
a
r
g
ra
n
t
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
.

A
lo
n
g

w
it
h

a
lm
o
s
t
a
ll
lo
c
a
l

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
,
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
's

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

w
ill

b
e
lo
w

in
th
is

fi
rs
t
y
e
a
r
d
u
e
to

th
e
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
p
ro
c
e
s
s
w
it
h
c
h
ild
c
a
re

p
ro
v
id
e
rs

o
n
ta
rg
e
ti
n
g
th
is
fu
n
d
in
g
to

n
e
e
d
a
n
d
to

e
n
s
u
re

th
a
t
a
ro
b
u
s
t
a
n
d
tr
a
n
s
p
a
re
n
t
g
ra
n
t
b
id
d
in
g
p
ro
c
e
s
s
is
in
p
la
c
e
.
T
h
e
D
C
S
F
h
a
s
c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
th
a
t

th
e
 b
a
la
n
c
e
 c
a
n
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
. 
  

U
n
a
llo
c
a
te
d
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t

1
5
0
,2
6
8

0
0

G
ra
n
t

T
o
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 f
o
r 
b
id
s
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
v
it
e
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
. 

L
o
n
g
to
w
n
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 -
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t 

1
0
,0
0
0

1
0
,0
0
0

1
0
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

G
a
rw
a
y
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t 
- 
P
re
-s
c
h
o
o
l 
m
o
b
ile

9
0
,0
0
0

9
0
,0
0
0

9
0
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

J
o
h
n
 K
y
rl
e
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t

1
1
7
,6
0
0

1
1
5
,0
1
8

1
1
5
,0
1
8

G
ra
n
t

L
la
n
g
ro
v
e
 -
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t

1
5
,5
0
0

1
3
,4
4
8

1
3
,4
4
8

G
ra
n
t

E
w
y
a
s
 H
a
ro
ld
 -
 E
x
t.
S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t 
- 
P
re
-s
c
h
o
o
l 
m
o
b
ile

3
0
,0
0
0

2
8
,5
0
0

2
8
,5
0
0

G
ra
n
t

P
e
te
rc
h
u
rc
h
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 -
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t

1
0
,0
0
0

0
0

G
ra
n
t

G
ra
n
t 
a
w
a
rd
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
n
o
t 
y
e
t 
c
la
im
e
d

B
ra
m
p
to
n
 A
b
b
o
ts
 -
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t

1
5
,0
0
0

8
,4
1
0

1
5
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

S
ta
u
n
to
n
-o
n
-W

y
e
 -
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t

5
0
,0
0
0

0
0

G
ra
n
t

G
ra
n
t 
a
w
a
rd
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
n
o
t 
y
e
t 
c
la
im
e
d
. 
 W

ill
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 0
9
/1
0

G
o
rs
le
y
 G
o
ff
s
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 -
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t

5
0
,0
0
0

0
0

G
ra
n
t

G
ra
n
t 
a
w
a
rd
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
n
o
t 
y
e
t 
c
la
im
e
d
. 
 W

ill
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 0
9
/1
0

A
s
h
fi
e
ld
 P
a
rk
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t

5
,0
0
0

0
0

G
ra
n
t

G
ra
n
t 
a
w
a
rd
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
n
o
t 
y
e
t 
c
la
im
e
d
. 
 W

ill
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 0
9
/1
0

H
o
lm
e
 L
a
c
e
y
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t

7
,5
0
0

0
0

G
ra
n
t

G
ra
n
t 
a
w
a
rd
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
n
o
t 
y
e
t 
c
la
im
e
d
. 
 W

ill
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 0
9
/1
0

K
in
g
s
 C
a
p
le
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t

2
,5
0
0

0
0

G
ra
n
t

G
ra
n
t 
a
w
a
rd
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
n
o
t 
y
e
t 
c
la
im
e
d
. 
 W

ill
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 0
9
/1
0

L
e
a
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 G
ra
n
t

3
7
,5
0
0

0
0

G
ra
n
t

G
ra
n
t 
a
w
a
rd
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
n
o
t 
y
e
t 
c
la
im
e
d
. 
 W

ill
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 0
9
/1
0

C
h
il
d
re
n
's
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
 &
 E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 T
o
ta
l

2
,8
2
9
,6
2
4

  
  
  
 

1
,1
3
2
,6
7
2

  
  
  

1
,5
4
6
,8
3
0

  
  
  

N
o
n
-b
u
il
d
in
g
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

4
,8
9
6

3
,0
7
9

5
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

IC
T
 M
o
b
ile
 T
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 f
o
r 
S
o
c
ia
l 
W
o
rk
e
rs

1
6
,0
0
0

7
,3
8
7

1
6
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

L
o
c
a
l 
P
u
b
lic
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
g
ra
n
t 
-s
c
h
o
o
l 
a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e

2
1
,7
2
0

2
1
,7
0
9

2
1
,7
0
9

G
ra
n
t

H
a
rn
e
s
s
in
g
 T
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y

1
,3
1
7
,7
5
8

1
,0
6
2
,0
3
4

1
,0
7
0
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

D
e
v
o
lv
e
d
 t
o
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
. 
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 h
a
v
e
 u
n
ti
l 
A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
9
 t
o
 s
p
e
n
d
. 
B
a
la
n
c
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 

fo
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
. 

Y
o
u
th
 C
a
p
it
a
l

7
6
,0
0
0

6
7
,5
3
8

7
6
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

L
o
c
a
l 
P
u
b
lic
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
G
ra
n
t 
- 
N
E
E
T

1
0
,0
0
0

9
,9
4
4

9
,9
4
4

G
ra
n
t

N
o
n
-b
u
il
d
in
g
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s
 T
o
ta
l

1
,4
4
6
,3
7
4

  
  
  
 

1
,1
7
1
,6
9
1

  
  
  

1
,1
9
8
,6
5
3

  
  
  

S
1
0
6
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts

P
e
n
tl
a
n
d
 G
a
rd
e
n
s
, 
H
e
re
fo
rd

4
6
,8
7
9

0
0

D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n

A
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
T
ri
n
it
y
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 S
c
h
o
o
l.
  
F
e
a
s
ib
ili
ty
 s
tu
d
y
 b
e
in
g
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 

e
n
tr
a
n
c
e
, 
re
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
d
m
in
 a
re
a
. 
 T
o
 b
e
 s
p
e
n
t 
b
y
 1
s
t 
O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
0
.

O
ld
 R
d
, 
B
ro
m
y
a
rd
 (
Q
E
)

1
7
,6
8
4

8
,8
4
2

8
,8
4
2

D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n

A
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 s
p
lit
 e
q
u
a
lly
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 Q
u
e
e
n
 E
liz
a
b
e
th
 H
u
m
a
n
it
ie
s
 C
o
lle
g
e
 a
n
d
 S
t 
P
e
te
r'
s
 

P
ri
m
a
ry
. 
 Q
u
e
e
n
 E
liz
a
b
e
th
 H
u
m
a
n
it
ie
s
 C
o
lle
g
e
 h
a
s
 u
s
e
d
 i
ts
 s
h
a
re
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 a
 t
o
ile
t 

re
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
 N
e
w
ly
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 H
e
a
d
te
a
c
h
e
r 
o
f 
S
t 
P
e
te
r'
s
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 i
s
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 

g
o
v
e
rn
o
rs
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 f
o
r 
th
is
 f
u
n
d
in
g
. 
 M
u
s
t 
b
e
 s
p
e
n
t 
b
y
 1
8
th
 A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
1
8
. 
  
  
 

B
u
lli
n
g
h
a
m
 L
a
n
e
, 
H
e
re
fo
rd

3
4
,0
9
0

0
0

D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n

A
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
S
t 
M
a
rt
in
's
 P
ri
m
a
ry
. 
 H
ig
h
e
s
t 
a
s
s
e
t 
m
q
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 b
e
in
g
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 
T
o
 b
e
 

s
p
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
5
th
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
2
0
.

W
it
h
ie
s
 R
o
a
d
, 
W
it
h
in
g
to
n
 (
1
)

2
4
,5
1
1

2
4
,5
1
1

2
4
,5
1
1

D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n

A
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
W
it
h
in
g
to
n
 P
ri
m
a
ry
. 
 S
p
e
n
t 
o
n
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 r
e
m
o
d
e
l 
re
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 t
o
ile
ts
 a
n
d
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 

d
o
o
rs
. 

W
it
h
ie
s
 R
o
a
d
, 
W
it
h
in
g
to
n
 (
2
)

3
9
,4
0
7

0
0

D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n

A
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
W
it
h
in
g
to
n
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 a
n
d
/o
r 
A
y
le
s
to
n
e
 H
ig
h
. 
 H
ig
h
e
s
t 
a
s
s
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 b
e
in
g
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 
 T
o
 b
e
 s
p
e
n
t 
b
y
 8
th
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
8
. 

40



B
ra
d
b
u
ry
 L
in
e
s
, 
H
e
re
fo
rd

1
8
2
,4
4
3

0
0

D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n

A
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
. 
 P
o
s
s
ib
le
 b
e
n
e
fi
c
ia
ri
e
s
 a
re
: 
S
t.
 M
a
rt
in
's
 P
ri
m
a
ry
, 

O
u
r 
L
a
d
y
's
 R
C
 P
ri
m
a
ry
, 
B
la
c
k
m
a
rs
to
n
 S
p
e
c
ia
l 
S
c
h
o
o
l 
a
n
d
 s
w
im
m
in
g
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
 D
e
a
d
lin
e
 f
o
r 

s
p
e
n
d
 i
s
 2
5
th
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
1
1
. 
  
  
 

C
o
u
g
h
to
n
, 
R
o
s
s
-o
n
-W

y
e

9
,0
0
0

0
0

D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n

A
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
t 
lo
c
a
l 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 (
W
a
lf
o
rd
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 a
n
d
/o
r 
J
o
h
n
 K
y
rl
e
 H
ig
h
 

S
c
h
o
o
l)
. 
 W

ill
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 h
ig
h
e
s
t 
a
s
s
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
, 
w
h
ic
h
 

is
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
s
c
h
o
o
l 
p
la
c
e
s
 a
t 
J
o
h
n
 K
y
rl
e
 H
ig
h
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
fo
r 
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
0
6
 T
o
ta
ls

3
5
4
,0
1
4

  
  
  
  
  

3
3
,3
5
3

3
3
,3
5
3

S
c
h
o
o
l 
D
e
v
o
lv
e
d
 B
u
il
d
in
g
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s

D
e
v
o
lv
e
d
 F
o
rm

u
la
 C
a
p
it
a
l

3
,1
5
0
,0
0
0

3
,1
0
2
,4
4
9

3
,1
5
0
,0
0
0

G
ra
n
t

T
o
ta
l

1
7
,6
7
8
,2
3
0

  
  
 

1
2
,9
1
4
,5
4
3

  
  

1
4
,6
2
2
,3
9
5

  
  

41



42



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Malcolm Green, Finance Manager on  

Tel:  01442 260818 Email: mgreen@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

RevenueBudgetMonitoring2008090.doc  

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2008/09 

Report By: Finance Manager 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To report on the monitoring of the revenue budget for 2008/09 for the Children & 
Young People’s Directorate. 

 Financial Implications 

2. As set out in the report 
 

 Background 

3. The Budget Monitoring Report to Cabinet on 18th February 2009, based on 
expenditure to 31st December 2008, forecast that the Children’s revenue budget 
would be underspent by £136,000. This report has been updated to include 
expenditure up to the 28th February 2009 and projects a surplus of £567,000 arising 
from transport savings and active budget management by the Directorate. 

 
4. A bid will be made by the Directorate as part of the Council’s year end procedures to 

use any carry forward to facilitate the move to locality teams and restructure the 
Directorate. The surplus is set out in the summary table below. The detailed analysis 
is listed in the Appendix. 
 

 Total Budget 
for 2008/09 
 
                         
£’000 

December 2008 
Forecast Net over 
or underspending 
(-)                                              
£’000 

February 2009 
Forecast Net over 
or underspending 
(-)                         
£’000 

Percentage  
% 

Safeguarding & 
Assessment 

11,508 -30 -33 0 

Planning, 
Performance & 
Development 

7,074 -35 -395 -6% 

Inclusion & 
Improvement 

5,145 -240 -271 -5% 

Grants (inc ABG) 2,304 0 0 0 

Central Directorate  599 179 152 +25% 

Locality Teams 110 -10 -20 -18% 

Total 26,739 -136 -567 -2% 

 
 
 

43



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Malcolm Green, Finance Manager on  

Tel:  01442 260818 Email: mgreen@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

RevenueBudgetMonitoring2008090.doc  

Inclusion & Improvement  

5. The Inclusion and Improvement Service budget position is now expected to underspend 
by £271k. The Joint Agency Management budget is the main reason for this change 
within the Inclusion & Improvement Service with a forecasted underspend of £250k. The 
Joint Agency Management Board have asked for “invest to save” proposals to be 
developed so that the underspend can be used to invest in early intervention services 
that help to reduce future costs. 

 
6. The Early Years budget has benefited from a contribution of £170k from Early Years & 

Childcare Grant for the Hollybush Children’s Centre so that the use of grant can be 
maximised.  

 
7. The forecasts for the School Improvement Service and Youth Service have been 

reassessed and they have both reduced by £30k but the School Improvement Service is 
still forecasted to overspend by £62k which will be addressed by redesigning the In-
service training programme for 2009/10 and setting a realistic achievable income target.   

 
8. Other minor adjustments to the forecast have been made within the Inclusion & 

Improvement Service. The Vulnerable Children’s budget is forecasted to under spend by 
£14k. The forecast for the Youth Offending Team has been adjusted to reflect the current 
agreements with Worcestershire CC. The Education Welfare budget has now transferred 
over from the Safeguarding and Assessment Service to reflect the new structure of the 
Directorate.   

 
 Safeguarding & Assessment 

9. The reduction in the safeguarding costs is due mainly to savings in the adoption budgets 
and some slippage on social work staffing appointments. A rigorous recruitment 
campaign is already underway to redress the balance.  Previous forecasts allowed for 32 
placements in residential and agency fostering although actual numbers have remained 
below this figure for most of the year. This approach has proved to be prudent because 
placement numbers have started to increase since Christmas. There has also been a 
gradual increase in numbers of in-house fostering, rising to a current 103 compared to 95 
in November. It should be noted that the budget will be under further cost pressures if 
this trend continues.  

 
 Planning, Performance & Development 

10. The forecasted underspend on the Transport budget has increased by £356,000 since 
the end of December from £108k to £463k. We are developing a robust monitoring and 
forecasting system for transport expenditure which is progressing well, however an 
independent forecast has confirmed this figure.  As part of the Performance Improvement 
Cycle efficiency process the budget has been reduced by £100k.  

 
 Locality Teams 

11. The Head of Service cost centre is now forecasting to under spend by £10k due to the 
vacancy which existed during the summer of 2008 and it is not expected to spend the 
£10,000 budget on parenting classes due to offsetting against external grants won by the 
Council. 
 

 Central Directorate 

12. Efficiency Savings of £159k remain to be identified within the Central Directorate and will 
be addressed as part of setting the 09/10 budget. The cost of redundancies in schools 

44



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Malcolm Green, Finance Manager on  

Tel:  01442 260818 Email: mgreen@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

RevenueBudgetMonitoring2008090.doc  

has yet to be finalised since it depends on the contractual agreements made prior to 
March 31

st
 2009. 

 
 Dedicated Schools Grant  

13. An under spend in Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) of £1.1m is currently forecast 
comprising backdated charitable rates relief for voluntary aided schools (£431K), further 
savings of a similar amount are expected as the final VA schools complete and return the 
application forms, Joint Agency Management (£250k) and other education only 
placements (£94k) and the additional grant (£112K). Spending on banded funding is now 
expected to be largely on budget. DSG is ring-fenced and any under or over spend must 
be carried forward to 2009/10. Because of the complexity of Dedicated Schools Grant, 
introduced in April 2006 and the previous passporting regulations prior to 2006, The 
Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) have advised that the Council 
should seek a legal opinion on how the rates underspend can be used prior to making 
any decision. Schools Forum has to be consulted on the use of underspend in Dedicated 
Schools Grant. 

 
 Other Grants 

14. Grant income in excess of £20 million is received by the Directorate including Area 
Based Grant (ABG managed by the Children’s Trust) £3.8m and General Surestart Grant 
£3.4m and Standards Fund of £13,2m which is largely devolved to schools.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the report be noted 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

§ None identified.  

 

45



46



APPENDIX 

Children & Young People’s Directorate 
Revenue Budget Monitoring Report – as at 10 March 2009 

 
 2008/09 

BUDGET 
£’000 

2008/09 
ACTUAL  

£’000 

2008/09 
PROJECTION

£’000 

2008/09 
VARIANCE 

£’000 

NOTES  

A. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)     

Grant Income from DfES -83,382 -76,850 -83,382 0 Income and high school 
budget amended to reflect 
new Academy 

Primary Schools 37,162 39,411 37,162 0  
High Schools 36,293 36,863 36,293 0  
Special schools 3,580 3,805 3,580 0  
Less LSC income -2,750 -2,567 -2,750 0  
      

DSG c/fwd & contingencies 
 

-519 
 

-344 -505 14  

 
Central spending within 
DSG 

     

Special Needs Banded 
Funding 

1,190 
 

846 1,157 (33) Underspend on High 
Schools banded funding 

Special Needs Support 
Services/Inclusion 

1,473 1,223 1,219 (254)  

Fees to Independent Schools 
for SEN placements 

1,218 434 874 (344) Fewer children than 
expected due to delayed 
new placements 

Pupil Referral Units 895 895 895 0  

Nursery Education Funding 2,898 2,643 2,900 2  

Early Years 459 363 471 12  

Other smaller budgets 1,448 823 903 (545)  
 

Music 0 247 0 0  
 

Schools absence fund c/fwd 35 -103 35 0 C/fwd from 07/08 

Dedicated Schools 
      Grant Total 
 

0 7,689 -1,148 (1,148)  

B. Children’s Budget      

Directorate Central Costs 599 194 750 151  

Locality Teams 
 

110 50 90 (20)  

Safeguarding – External 
Agency Placements 

2,240 1,800 2,004 (236)  fewer placements 

Safeguarding – Looked after 
Children 

2,571 2,538 2,836 265  

Safeguarding –Social Work 4,240 3,828 4,152 (88)  
Safeguarding – Assessment 
& Family Support 

1,757 1,574 1,774 17  

47



 
Improvement & Inclusion – 
Children with Disabilities 

 
825 

 
878 

 
575 

 
(250) 

 

Safeguarding – Children with 
Disabilities 

700 615 709 9  

 
 
I & I – Early Years 

 
 

277 

 
 

243 

 
 

294 

 
 

17 
 

 

I&I – Management 477 357 460 (17)  
I&I – Special Needs 860 639 797 (63)  
I&I – School Improvement 1,302 1,104 1,364 62  
I&I – Youth Offending Team 341 250 320 (21)  
I&I – Youth Service 
 

1,062 900 1,062 0  

PPD – Transport 5,396 3,991 4,932 (464)  
PPD – Management 512 436 458 (54)  
PPD – Directorate ICT 389 68 521 132  
PPD - Property 777 493 768 (9)  
      

Children’s Total  24,435 19,958 23,868 (567)   

      

Grants 2,304 120 2,304 0  

      

Grand Total 26,739 20,078 25,025 1,714  

 
 
All figures have been rounded to the nearest thousand. 

48



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Sharon Menghini, Director of Children’s 
Services.  Tel number:  01432 260039.  E-mail:  smenghini@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 

EstablishingLinkRolesforScrutinyMemberstosupportECM2report0.doc  

 ESTABLISHING LINK ROLES FOR SCUTINY 
MEMBERS TO SUPPORT EVERY CHILD MATTERS 

Report By: Director of Children’s Services  

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To consider the establishment of Scrutiny Member roles to enable a fuller 
understanding of the issues affecting Children and Young People in Herefordshire, 
thus enabling them to support the Scrutiny Committee in fulfilling its role effectively in 
the support of Every Child Matters (ECM). 

Financial Implications 

2. None 

Background 

3. The previous Scrutiny Committee met on 18 November 2008 and considered the 
establishment of these roles after a suggesting from the Chair that there was a need 
to ensure a fuller understanding and level of engagement in the complex and diverse 
service delivery across the county. 

4.  The Chief Executive and the Leader of the Council supported the suggestion that 
such roles should be established. 

5. The previous discussion raised concern about the suggested name  for the role as 
there disconcernation about the title ‘Champion’, thus the title suggested has been 
altered to Link Member for ECM. 

6. Other concerns were aired about the need to strike a balance between observing and 
understanding the business whilst also ensuring the confidentiality and safeguarding 
of our young people.  

7. Suggested Terms of Reference are attached at Appendix 1. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT; 

(a) The Committee adopt the recommended format for the role and 
title of Link and Vice Link member for ECM. 

(b) The new ways of working are established with immediate effect 
and reviewed in one year. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

§ None identified. 

AGENDA ITEM 11

49



50



E:\MODERNGOV\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\5\AI00016561\EstablishingLinkRolesforScrutinyMemberstosupportECMAppendix120.doc 

Appendix 1 
 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

CHAMPION MEMBERS OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY 
 

 
As suggested by the Chair of Children’s Services Scrutiny an ECM Link Councillor and 
Vice-ECM Link Councillor will be identified to take a more pro-active focus on one of 
each of the five outcome areas of Every Child Matters (Be Healthy, Stay Safe, Enjoy and 
Achieve, Make a Positive Contribution and Achieve Economic Well-Being).   
 
Purpose 
 
1. ECM Link Members and Vice ECM Link Members will be encouraged to shadow 

and observe appropriate meetings to enable them to hear first hand some of the 
issues that those practitioners, Children and Young People Directorate officers 
and indeed users of our services have to address.  

 
2. Attendance at meetings will be by invitation only by the relevant Head of Service 

of the Children and Young People’s Directorate.   
 

3. Attendance at meetings will be no more than twice per school term during an 
academic year.  

 
4. Members will be introduced to the group and given clarity over any acronym or 

professional jargon as requested but are there to observe and hear about the 
issues rather than use the meeting for a scrutinising interview.  

 
5. Officers will ensure that should Members require casual clothing or outdoor gear 

to visit young people or a facility that Members will be notified well in advance.  
 

6. Members are politely reminded of the need to safeguard children and young 
people’s personal information and emotional well being particularly where these 
may be looked after children or children who are vulnerable.   

 

51



52



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 MARCH 2009 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Paul James,  
Democratic services Officer on 01432 260460 

 

 

 CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
WORK PROGRAMME 

Report By: Assistant Chief Executive – Legal and Democratic 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1 To consider the Committee work programme. 

Financial Implications 

2 None  

Background 

3 In accordance with the Scrutiny Improvement Plan a report on the Committee’s 
current Work Programme will be made to each of the scheduled quarterly meetings 
of this Scrutiny Committee.  A copy of the suggested Work Programme is attached at 
Appendix 1. 

4 The programme may be modified by the Chairman following consultation with the 
Vice-Chairman and the Director of Children’s Services in response to changing 
circumstances.  

5 Should any urgent, prominent or high profile issue arise, the Chairman may consider 
calling an additional meeting to consider that issue. 

6 Should Members become aware of any issues they consider may be added to the 
scrutiny programme they should contact either the Director of Children’s Services or 
the Democratic Services Officer to log the issue so that it may be taken in to 
consideration when planning future agendas or when revising the work programme. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT subject to any comment or issues raised by the Committee the 
Committee work programme be approved and reported to 
Strategic Monitoring Committee. 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None identified. 

AGENDA ITEM 12

53



54



Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee - Work Programme 2008/09 - 2009/10 
for consideration by Committee on 30 March 09 

 
 

Monday 6th July 2009    

Officer Reports • Children Cared for by Unofficial Carers.  

• Domestic Abuse – Update  

• Capital Budget Monitoring. 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring  

• Performance Digest 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews  

Monday 28th September 2009   

Officer Reports • Machinery of Government: Changes to 
Connexions and the Learning and Skills Council 
(LSC). 

• School transport including reference to the Yellow 
Bus scheme (subject to receipt of Government 
guidance). 

• Capital Budget Monitoring. 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Performance Digest 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews  

Friday 11th December 2009  

Officer Reports • Ethnicity, Equality and diversity in schools. 

• Capital Budget Monitoring. 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Performance Digest 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews  

Friday 19th March 2010 

 • Capital Budget Monitoring. 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Performance Digest 

• Committee Work Programme. 

  

 
NOTE: At its meeting on 8th December 2008 the Committee set up a SEN/Banded 
Funding Working Group.  Officers have been collating a range of background 
paperwork to inform the Group prior to their first meeting. It is anticipated that the 
Group will meet during April.  
 
 
 

55



Possible future items on: 
 

• The 14 – 19 Strategy 

• Foundation and Academy Schools 

• Governance arrangements for the Children’s Trust and partnerships. 

• Delivery plans to be submitted to Committee for the Children and Young 
People Plan. 

 

 
 
Themes or Issues identified for future agendas by the Director 
 

Date Subject 

To be confirmed Be Healthy:  Substance Misuse 

To be confirmed Economic Well Being: 14-19 / LSC / Connexions 
Changes / Plans 

To be confirmed Positive Contribution:  Targeted / Integrated Youth 
Services 

To be confirmed Enjoy and Achieve:  Attendance 
 
 
 

 
In consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman the Director of Children’s 
Services is working up a programme of open seminars for Members based on 
defined themes. 
 

Planned Seminars: 
 
31 March at 2.00pm  – Status of Schools / Collaboration of Schools   
 
 

56


	Agenda
	
	4 MINUTES
	6 Ofsted APA Outcomes for Children's Services 2008
	APA 2008 - Appendix

	7 Safeguarding Action Plan
	Safeguarding Action Plan - Appendix

	8 Comprehensive Area Assessment and Performance Digest - October- December 2008/2009
	9 Capital Budget Report 2008/9
	Capital Budget Report 2008-09 - Appendix

	Revenue Monitoring Report
	Revenue Budget Monitoring 2008-09 - Appendix (2)

	11 Establishing Link Roles for Scrutiny Members to Support Every Child Matters
	Establishing Link Roles for Scrutiny Members to support ECM - Appendix 1 (2)

	12 Committee Work Programme
	Work programme to 30 March 09 committee


